REVIEW ARTICLE



Cosmological implications of the hydrodynamical phase of group field theory

Luciano Gabbanelli¹ . Silvia De Bianchi^{2,3}

Received: 18 August 2020 / Accepted: 6 June 2021 / Published online: 1 July 2021 © The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, part of Springer Nature 2021

Abstract

In this review we focus on the main cosmological implications of the Group Field Theory approach, according to which an effective continuum macroscopic dynamics can be extracted from the underlying formalism for quantum gravity. Within this picture what counts is the collective behaviour of a large number of quanta of geometry. The resulting state is a condensate-like structure made of "pre-geometric" excitations of the Group Field Theory field over a no-space vacuum. Starting from the kinematics and dynamics, we offer an overview of the way in which Group Field Theory condensate cosmology treats solutions for the homogeneous and isotropic universe. These solutions including a bounce, share with other quantum cosmological approaches the resolution of the singularity characterizing general relativity. Contrary to what is usually done in quantum cosmology, in Group Field Theory cosmology no preliminary symmetry reduction is needed for this purpose. We conclude with a discussion of the limits and future perspectives of the Group Field Theory approach.

Keywords Group field theory · Bose-Einstein condensates · Bouncing cosmologies

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Quantum gravity with matter reference frames	4
3	GFT condensed phase	10

Luciano Gabbanelli luciano.gabbanelli@uab.cat

> Silvia De Bianchi silvia.debianchi@unimi.it

- ¹ Institut de Física d'Altes Energies (IFAE), Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Campus UAB, Bellaterra, 08193 Barcelona, Spain
- ² Department of Philosophy, University of Milan, Via Festa del Perdono, 7, 20122 Milan, Italy
- ³ Department of Philosophy, Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona, Building B Campus UAB, Bellaterra, 08193 Barcelona, Spain

	3.1 The mean field approximation	11
	3.2 Isotropic condensed states	16
4	The Friedmann universe	18
	4.1 Classical general relativity	18
	4.2 The homogeneous universe in GFT	19
5	Beyond homogeneity	22
	5.1 Volume density perturbations	23
	5.2 Matter density perturbations	26
6	Discussion and closing remarks	30
R	eferences	32

1 Introduction

The goal of the present paper is to review some essential properties of Group Field Theory (GFT) and GFT condensate cosmology in an accessible way from a non-specialist's perspective, and with a non-GFT audience in mind. For a review with an internalist perspective see [1]. Our purpose is to underline the physical consequences of the formalism and to discuss some results that go beyond quantum cosmology and invite conceptual innovation. Although the general formalism of GFT is deeply related to Loop Quantum Gravity (LQG), tensor models and lattice quantum gravity, in the sense that all these theories share the formulation in terms of discrete and combinatorial structures rather than continuum variables (such as a metric or a connection on a smooth manifold), the peculiarities introduced by the cosmological sector of GFT brings a novel proposal on how to deal with these fundamental structures in order to recover a continuum spacetime and ultimately general relativity [2].

Furthermore, GFT condensate cosmology is able to reach results similar to those of Loop Quantum Cosmology (LQC) without any symmetry reduction, namely generic solutions of its models of the early universe include a bounce. Symmetry reduced versions of LQG, well known as LQC, have recently been studied as models of quantum cosmology [3,4]. They possess two main features. The first is a mechanism for avoiding the big bang singularity in the framework of mini-superspace models of quantum gravity¹. In this mechanism the inverse scale factor is represented by an operator that stays bounded as the universe's classical radius shrinks to zero. Other alternatives involve the effective discretization of the Hamiltonian constraint, which enables the quantum wavefunction to 'jump over' the singularity. Whichever the model under consideration, it is not clear how these models can be derived from full-fledge LQG, if it is in fact possible. Hence, there is no common agreement whether the singularity avoidance is a property of the full theory. In fact, calculations regarding the full LQG theory show that the spectrum of the operator corresponding to the inverse volume is not bounded from above [9]².

¹ It should be noted that 'singularity avoidance mechanisms' may exist in more conventional minisuperspace of quantum geometrodynamics. For instance, from simple particle models like [5] to more comprehensive studies in more realistic situations [6] and recent extension to anisotropic models [7], in which the analysis is consistently based on the behaviour of the wavefunction and not on the bouncing behaviour of quantum-corrected classical equations. For an overview and a comparison between LQC and standard quantum cosmology, see [8].

 $^{^{2}}$ For further analysis concerning these topics refer to [10].

The second feature implies the possibility that an intrinsically quantum gravitational mechanism of LQC might trigger inflation, which may eventually be stopped (gracefully) by gravity itself. Although proposals have been made in the context of isotropic models [11], in LQC there is no clear success in producing an inflationary era out of pure quantum gravity effects. On the contrary, in GFT cosmology seems to be possible by modeling an early epoch of accelerated expansion, which can last for an arbitrarily large number of e-folds without the need of introducing an *ad hoc* potential for the scalar field [12].

The same key-feature of LQC including a bounce can be found in GFT cosmology. According to GFT, cosmology is understood as the 'hydrodynamic' regime of quantum gravity. The macroscopic universe would correspond to a fluid whose 'atoms' are GFT quanta, behaving collectively in a mean field approximation. The collective variable is a sort of density function, to which a velocity function is added [13]. Therefore, this 'hydrodynamic' approximation provides a natural link with the usual Wheeler-DeWitt approach to quantum cosmology, but with two main improvements: (1) the theory does not require any symmetry reduction, but requires a suitable coarse-graining from the microscopic features; and (2) includes many-body features of the full Hilbert space of the microscopic theory to the extent in which they survive the coarse-graining procedure and have an actual signature in the collective description. Nonetheless, there is no much control over whether the approximation survives the inclusion of quantum fluctuations of observables and inhomogeneous perturbations. In fact, [14] claims that the hydrodynamic approximation itself can break down in the regime of observables corresponding to the bounce where quantum fluctuations seem to become larger. In this scenario, the fact that expectation values of the volume and the density show a bouncing dynamics becomes less relevant, calling for a more refined approximation of the underlying quantum gravity dynamics.

The idea of modeling the universe as a GFT condensate is part of a larger effort aimed at understanding the collective dynamics of many interacting degrees of freedom. If one could find a physical significance of the non-spatiotemporal quanta of the theory, then one would wonder which are the possible macroscopic phases on which the quanta can be organized. Therefore, it seems plausible that geometry and cosmology as we know them emerge in (at least) one of these phases. In other words, spacetime and the universe emerge through a phase transition from some non-geometric phase (or pre-geometric phase) with no notion of locality. This is consistent with the aim of backgroundindependent formulation for quantum gravity theories. This phase transition has been dubbed geometrogenesis. In the context of GFT, the condensate phase of the universe would arise from this *geometrogenesis* [13,15,16]. This realization is supported by results on GFT renormalization suggesting this type of phase transition (see Ref. [17] for recent computations). The step from the background independent and nonspatiotemporal microscopic quantum description to the effective cosmological one, involves a coarse graining of an infinite dimensional set of quantum interacting degrees of freedom. This situation is analogous to the effective hydrodynamic phase of some condensed matter system, which is obtained directly from the quantum field theory describing the atoms that constitute it. Within this condensate phase the universe would ultimately enter in its hydrodynamical regime, where a more regular and ordered phase is achieved. At this stage, the theory can be formulated in the language of spacetime, and geometry can be identified together with notions of locality, which are recovered by using relational observables.

We will focus on the GFT formalism according to which the macroscopic, homogeneous and isotropic universe dynamically emerges from the collective behaviour of a highly coherent configuration of many discrete "pre-geometric atoms" introduced in Sect. 2. This approach suggests the existence of a phase where a large number of quanta condensate, and ultimately within this condensate phase, the system enters in a 'hydrodynamic regime' where concepts of space and time are well defined (see Sect. 3). In this regime, the classical Friedmann dynamics for a homogeneous and isotropic universe, together with quantum corrections of general relativity, emerge consistently from the fundamental constituents. These aspects together with deviations from exact homogeneity and the construction of more realistic cosmological scenarios are presented and discussed in Sects. 4 and 5 of our review. We then conclude by discussing the results in recent GFT literature and their cosmological implications, underlying open questions to be further investigated.

2 Quantum gravity with matter reference frames

GFT is a research programme for a non-perturbative quantization of gravity. These theories aim at describing the dynamics of quanta of space on background-independent theories and hence are characterized by a lack of any preferred notion of time. According to GFT, the universe is an ensemble of processes happening where any notion of evolution is purely relational. Hence, as it happens in most quantum gravity approaches, discussions focus on how to identify in mathematical terms the available degrees of freedom at the Planck scale in order to define the relational dynamics.

One of the most drastic change of perspective of GFT is certainly how the theory describes the macroscopic universe starting from the underlying physics and without referring to any external structure. According to this approach, the structure and dynamics of "quanta of space", identified with discrete "pre-geometric" elementary structures (usually, quantized tetrahedra when restricted to 4 dimensions) each of which with an associated classical phase space, provide the 'appearance' of the spacetime fabric. Indeed, one might consider the classical theory as an emergent phenomenon that agrees with general relativity, together with the diffeomorphism invariance which is one of its most established foundations.

As we will discuss below, this view is similar to the theory of superfluidity where the fundamental quantum atoms play no individual role at the hydrodynamic level, but the collective behaviour is what matters. Analogously, in the GFT formalism the macroscopic universe emerges dynamically as the collective behaviour of a highly coherent configuration of many discrete "pre-geometric atoms". Thus, the theory enters into a "hydrodynamical" phase where a large number of constituents form a condensate structure. It is from the latter that concepts of space and time are defined. This approach would suggest that, in this regime, the classical Friedmann dynamics, together with quantum corrections emerge consistently from the fundamental constituents.

Let us first focus on gravity only with no mater fields present at all and later, we will show how this approach can embody matter degrees of freedom. In the formulation of GFT, the elementary degrees of freedom of geometry are represented by excitations of a quantum (statistical) complex scalar field $\varphi(g_1, g_2, ..., g_d)$, function of *d* group elements of an abstract group manifold (or the corresponding Lie algebra); this is

$$\varphi(g_I): \quad G^d \quad \longrightarrow \quad \mathbb{C} \tag{1}$$

for I = 1, ..., d. As mentioned, this manifold does not carry *a priori* any notions of spacetime geometry by itself, but stores geometric information—metric or connection data– beyond its mere combinatorial or topological structure [18–20]. Then, the elementary excitations occur above a fully degenerate 'no-space' vacuum and can be seen as quanta of geometry labelled by data in the domain space of the bosonic GFT field φ . Each quantum can be represented graphically as a (d - 1)–simplex with field arguments associated to the faces of it, or as a d–valent graph vertex, with field arguments associated to the links. The dynamics is governed by the choice of the action $S(\varphi)$ that will be defined in Eq. (6). By appropriate choices of the dimension d, the group manifold G and the functional form of the action together with the combinatorial pairing of field arguments, these theories can be understood as quantum field theories of spacetime [21].

Concretely, in the cosmological context, most 4 dimensional gravity models use the spacetime dimension d = 4 and the group G = SU(2). Indeed, when the GFT field

$$\varphi(g_I): \operatorname{SU}(2)^4 \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}$$
 (2)

satisfies the "closure" condition $\varphi(g_I) = \varphi(hg_I)$ for each $h \in G = SU(2)$, the microscopic theory can be depicted as 3–simplices, i.e. tetrahedra, whose 4 faces are associated to the field arguments given by an equivalent class of geometrical data $[\{g_I\}] = \{\{hg_I\}, h \in G\}$. By these appropriate choices, the perturbative expansion of the theory produces amplitudes that can be seen as a simplicial gravity path-integral [22], with the group-theoretic data entering as holonomies of a discrete gravitational connection.

Analogous algebraic data is used to construct the spin network states in LQG (holonomies of a connection and fluxes of a triad field) [23–27], and in fact these states can be seen as graphs dual to the triangulations formed by GFT quanta. In this duality, each vertex of the graph is dual to the tetrahedron of the triangulation; the links joining vertex are coloured by SU(2) connections and play the role of the tetrahedron faces where the gluing determines the particular GFT model. Therefore, GFT quantum states are built up from the kinematical data of LQG and the theory can be understood as a field-theoretic 2nd quantization formulation of LQG [28]. This correspondence between discrete quantum field theory (QFT) structures and spin networks can be found also at the dynamical level but treated via standard QFT methods. In this way, GFT attempts to define a sum over discretised geometries which can be used, once a continuum limit is identified, to obtain a path integral formulation for quantum gravity.

However, to extract this effective continuum physics and realistic cosmological models requires more crucial ingredients. Of course, there is plenty of matter in the universe and the relation of the matter content and its corresponding interaction must be addressed in a theory of Quantum Gravity. In GFT and other related diffeomorphisminvariant formalisms, matter fields are the most convenient way to define physical reference frames. This is a relational approach usually employed to define physical observables in different quantum gravity theories (see [29–31]).

A standard choice in quantum cosmology is to use free massless scalar fields for defining the evolution of the theory. This choice ensures diffeomorphism invariance. It is our interest here to see how these scalar fields can be coupled to a QFT formalism and their implications for the GFT condensate and the cosmological sector. The matter reference frame should be reconstructed from the physical degrees of freedom of the underlying theory. Therefore, the GFT field φ in (2) encompasses the new "coordinate" (scalar) degrees of freedom with real labels,

$$\varphi(g_I, \phi^J): \quad \mathrm{SU}(2)^4 \times \mathbb{R}^4 \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}.$$
 (3)

As before, the group elements $g_I \in SU(2)$ can be associated to the parallel transport of a gravitational Ashtekar–Barbero connection across the four faces of the tetrahedron, or equivalently along the links attached to each node of the 4–valent spin network and dual to such faces. Each "chunk of space" is labelled with a ϕ^J , with J = 0, 1, 2, 3, specifying the discrete matter (scalar field) degrees of freedom³. These fields are attached to the vertices corresponding to each tetrahedron and would represent the readings of all fields: 'clocks' and 'rods'.

The 2^{nd.} quantization formalism is suitable for describing quantum many-body systems. The Fock space is built from the Fock vacuum $|0\rangle$ representing the state with no spin network nodes or no tetrahedra. Therefore, it is a state with no topological nor geometrical information; a "no-space" vacuum analogous to the Ashtekar–Lewandowski vacuum [32] where operators for geometric observables such as volumes and areas from LQG vanish. Thereupon, one-particle states can be generated with the creation operators $\hat{\varphi}^{\dagger}(g_I, \phi^J)$ acting on the vacuum state. Both ladder operators, $\hat{\varphi}^{\dagger}$ together with the annihilation operator $\hat{\varphi}$, are required to be translation invariant under diagonal group multiplication from the left

$$\varphi(g_1,\ldots,g_4,\phi^0,\ldots,\phi^3) = \varphi(hg_1,\ldots,hg_4,\phi^0,\ldots,\phi^3) \quad \forall h \in \mathrm{SU}(2).$$
(4)

It can be verified that if the theory is written as a field theory on the Lie algebra $\mathfrak{su}(2)^4 \simeq (\mathbb{R}^3)^4$ via a noncommutative Fourier transform, the counterpart of the left gauge invariance is the closure constraint for the four faces of the tetrahedron [33]. The role of the ladder operators is derived directly from the postulated canonical commutation relations for the chosen bosonic statistics, which include the correct left invariance. These are

$$\left[\hat{\varphi}(g_{I},\phi^{J}),\hat{\varphi}^{\dagger}(g_{I}',\phi'^{J})\right] = \delta^{4}(\phi^{J}-\phi'^{J})\int_{\mathrm{SU}(2)}\mathrm{d}h\,\prod_{I=1}^{4}\delta(g_{I}'\,h\,g_{I}^{-1})\,,\qquad(5)$$

³ This procedure is usually generalized to an arbitrary *k*-number of massless scalar fields, J = 0, 1, ..., k. Here we restrict the analysis to only four of them because they will be used for labelling the four spatiotemporal dimensions; i.e. 1 temporal ϕ^0 and 3 spatial ϕ^i independent components.

while two $\hat{\varphi}$ or two $\hat{\varphi}^{\dagger}$ operators commute. This leads us to interpret $\hat{\varphi}^{\dagger}$ as a creator of a single four-valent spin network node/tetrahedron with data given by g_I up to a gauge transformation on the left. In this picture, the one-particle state is depicted as

$$\hat{\varphi}^{\dagger}(g_{I},\phi^{J})\left|0
ight
angle = \left|g_{I},\phi^{J}
ight
angle = \left|g_{I}^{g_{1}}\phi^{J}\right|g_{4}^{g_{2}}$$

Finally, one can create generic multiparticle states with arbitrary particle number N acting N times with the creation operator $\hat{\varphi}^{\dagger}$ on $|0\rangle$.

Generic N-particle states can be associated to graphs structures and therefore, GFT models can be understood as a QFT for spin networks. Even though these states are analogous to those postulated in LQG in the sense that the degrees of freedom are encoded in purely combinatorial and algebraic structure as functions on these group manifolds, the corresponding Hilbert spaces are very different from each other. The GFT Hilbert space has a Fock structure defined out of the union of graph-based Hilbert spaces decomposed into elementary building blocks. An important feature of these Fock states is that, contrary to LQG states which contain all possible graphs with precise equivalence relations among them, they are defined with no unambiguous identification with the graph used to be constructed. They are superpositions of states for different particle numbers, and hence rather different from the states usually considered in LQG which are typically built on fixed graphs. Furthermore, although both theories define states with different numbers of nodes as orthogonal, the same does not happen when the number of nodes coincides. Contrary to LQG states, the structure of GFT states is reduced to specific correlations among fundamental quanta. In this manner, quantum states with the same number of quanta but with different correlations can overlap. Therefore, one could say that the structure of the GFT graphs has less relevance than in standard LQG. The precise connection between the (kinematical) LQG states and GFT states is a delicate issue and we refer to [34] for a more complete discussion. However, two more comments are worth mentioning here. First, in 2^{nd.} quantization formalism, the very number of particles corresponding to Fock states is uncertain, and becomes an observable with probabilities and mean values as any other observable. Therefore, as it will be discussed in the following in Eq. (14), N is a quantum observable of the theory and the dependence on it is derived and not assumed, and enters necessarily in both the kinematics and the effective cosmological dynamics [35]. Moreover, although graph structures lose importance in GFT, their physical relevance is enhanced because the number of graph nodes is turned into a new (very simple) physical observable. If one takes seriously the features of GFT states with their fundamental discreteness and drops some of the features corresponding to the LQG Hilbert space, as stated in [34], "the GFT Hilbert space has a clear Fock structure, giving straightforward meaning to the notion of 'QG atom of quantum space', and making powerful analytical tools available".

Second, if cosmology and geometry emerge from an effective hydrodynamic approximation to quantum gravity, it is plausible that topological information can not be found in the representation of Fock states in terms of graphs, but it must be extracted from elsewhere. Stated in other words, the topological information that one may associate to a collection of N tetrahedra plays no role in the continuum interpretation (and there would probably be no consistent way of using this information if we are dealing with superposition of states with different N), hence the topology of space should also be emergent rather than determined by microscopic details, such as specific choices of graphs. In fact, the continuum limit which, as briefly mentioned in the Introduction can be understood as a thermodynamic limit, is achieved through a phase transition reached in the $N \to \infty$ limit⁴. Particularly noteworthy is that the resulting states after this phase transition are no longer in the original GFT Fock space. This is a standard feature in QFT: when phase transitions occur, a change of representation to a different, unitarily inequivalent Hilbert space is needed. Among the more general considerations that can be developed there is the following. If there is a theory with physical discreteness, one can argue that no continuum limit is realized, but only a "continuum approximation" in analogy with the one appearing in causal sets [37]. The GFT condensate that may describe the universe would then have an extremely large but still finite number of quantum gravity atoms which are approximated as infinite.

The GFT framework treats polyhedra quite literally as the quanta of spacetime. Ouantum states in the kinematical GFT Hilbert space can be viewed as a collection of polyhedra (tetrahedra when d = 4), which can be (or not) glued to each other across faces. The theory is defined as a quantum field theory for the quanta where their gluing constraints together with their evolution processes can be interpreted as a definition of their interactions and their dynamics. Different choices for the interaction terms \mathcal{V} are model-building choices and can be understood as different manners of defining generic non-local many-body interactions between the underlying quanta. Any such model building strategy should be based on a clear understanding of how simplicial geometry is encoded in the algebraic data that we used. Working with simplicial complex means to choose the dimension d to the would-be spacetime dimension and interprets the GFT fields (this is, the quanta they create/annihilate) as (d-1)-simplices which its (d-2)-faces carry the arguments of the GFT fields, which for most practical purposes, one actually chooses the be the rotation subgroup (2). Although the theory admits a generic formulation in terms of simplicial polytopes whose boundaries are made of simplices, most of the relevant literature in models of quantum gravity and particularly the cosmological models relies on the well-understood simplicial case [1,13,38,39]. In the simplicial context, the simplicial gluing determines the face sharing interaction terms of five 3-simplices (tethrahedra) to form a 4-simplex, which are the only ones entering in the action; crucial for this interpretation is their non-locality in the group variables (in the sense that only a subset of the arguments of a given GFT field is related with a subset of the arguments of a different one). As mentioned, this kind of simplicial interactions is typically assumed in quantum geometric GFT models, but the same gluing process can be encoded in terms of dual graphs, understood as

⁴ The fact that $N \to \infty$ corresponds to a continuum limit in which a phase transition is reached has been shown in detail in matrix models for two-dimensional gravity [36].

the 1-skeleton of the cellular complex, dual to the simplicial complex of interest. Obviously, the Hilbert space taken by GFT also contains states associated to open spin network vertices not glued to any other, i.e. with some links (possibly all if interactions are neglected) ending up in 1-valent vertices. A simple general GFT action can be defined adding a quadratic kinetic term, that includes a local kinetic operator \mathcal{K} containing derivatives with respect to both variables g_I and ϕ^J , to a generic interaction term \mathcal{V} , which as mentioned is higher order in the field operators

$$S[\varphi,\bar{\varphi}] = -\int_{\mathrm{SU}(2)^4 \times \mathbb{R}^4} \mathrm{d}^4 g \, \mathrm{d}^4 \phi \, \bar{\varphi}(g_I,\phi^J) \, \mathcal{K} \, \varphi(g_I,\phi^J) + \mathcal{V}[\varphi,\bar{\varphi}] \,. \tag{6}$$

Once the action is specified, the full dynamics is determined. In fact, the action is typically chosen specifically such that the perturbative expansion of the partition function of the field theory

$$\mathcal{Z} = \int \mathcal{D}\varphi \mathcal{D}\bar{\varphi} \, e^{-S[\varphi,\bar{\varphi}]} \tag{7}$$

generates the Feynman rules for any spin foam model; such perturbative expansion in Feynman diagrams equals the sum over discretized path integrals for quantum gravity [40]; in this sense is that GFT represents a 2nd quantized reformulation of the LQG state space and a completion of the spin foam formalism. The kernels \mathcal{K} and \mathcal{V} determine the details of the resulting Feynman amplitudes and in doing so, it is possible to generate models that are related in a precise way to spin foam models [41]. Indeed, in [42] it was realized that amplitudes for the Barrett-Crane spin foam model in four dimensional quantum gravity [43] could be obtained from a suitable choice of the GFT action. Later, it was shown that any prescription for a spin foam amplitude (within a class of models of interest for quantum gravity) could be obtained directly from GFT [21]. In fact, the generality on possible choices of both operators, \mathcal{K} and \mathcal{V} , points towards a one-to-one correspondence between spin foam models and GFT actions [42], where the GFT partition function \mathcal{Z} corresponds to a sum over topologies and spacetime histories (for gravity and matter). Each history itself is discrete and contains a finite number of degrees of freedom. The main technical challenges are still the same as for the lower-dimensional matrix models; these are to control the unwieldy sum over Feynman graphs and obtain a continuum limit. However, we are interested here in cosmological implications of GFT, hence we will not go deeper in the microscopic description of the theory and proceed to the effective picture.

Once a structure for the action is chosen, the path integral for the theory can be formally defined. Subsequently, the complete (although formal) quantum dynamics can be fully specified by deriving the Schwinger–Dyson equations for n–point correlation functions from the path integral formalism. In quantum field theory, the Schwinger– Dyson equations are one way to organize and sum in a natural way the infinitely many diagrams that contribute to n–point functions [44]. In this sense, they automatically contain non-perturbative information and encode the complete quantum dynamics of the GFT models [45,46]. The equivalence to other non-perturbative methods such as the Bogoliubov canonical transformation and the Gaussian variational Ansatz, is well established. In the continuum limit of GFT models it is expected that the Schwinger– Dyson equations would admit an interpretation as Hamiltonian and diffeomorphism constraints of the quantum gravity theory, and thus provide the definition of the physical inner product (at least in a regime where topology changes are suppressed) for a non-perturbative domain.

The same quantum dynamics can also be given in an operator form for a GFT model with an action $S[\varphi, \bar{\varphi}]$ given by (6). The quantum equations of motion for a generic state $|\Psi\rangle$ can be simply written as

$$\frac{\delta \hat{S}[\varphi,\bar{\varphi}]}{\delta \bar{\varphi}(g_I)} |\Psi\rangle = 0 , \qquad (8)$$

together with a second equation, obtained from the variation of the action with respect to $\varphi(g_I, \phi^J)$. As mentioned above, the kinetic \mathcal{K} and interaction \mathcal{V} kernels in the generic action (6) can be chosen so as to reproduce the edge and vertex amplitudes of a spin foam model; i.e. a perturbative expansion of the GFT partition function around the Fock vacuum can be made to coincide with the expansion of the spin foam model. Nonetheless, when dealing with interacting field theories, solutions to the equation cannot be easily obtained; in fact, a general solution is not known without further approximations⁵.

The GFT approach deals with problems that are analogous in condensed matter physics and hence it made use of its ideas and methods. It proceeds by seeking for some condensate state that can play the role of a new, nonperturbative vacuum of the theory and that approximates the full solution state $|\Psi\rangle$, at least for a restricted set of cosmological observables without making use of an effective Wheeler–DeWitt equation [35]. In the next section it will be shown that when restricting to states represented by a wavefunction obeying the homogeneity principle, consistent effective quantum homogeneous cosmologies are obtained [47–49].

3 GFT condensed phase

The program of GFT condensate cosmology has been proposed in [38,47,49] (see Refs. [1,13,50] for reviews on the topic and their application to homogeneous cosmology). Instead of employing any symmetry reduction, the guiding principle for its construction steam on the analogy with condensed matter theory and the physics of many-body quantum systems. In this picture cosmology is represented as the hydrodynamic approximation of the quantum gravity theory. The main purpose tackles the identification of quantum states in a full quantum field theory for φ (function of four arguments valued in the SU(2) and minimally coupled to at least four scalar matter fields degrees of freedom⁶) and its possible consistent interpretation as a continuum geometry representing a macroscopic and nearly homogeneous description which can

⁵ The kinematical Fock space is known to be troublesome for defining an interacting quantum field theory. According to Haag's theorem one should not expect solutions to the quantum dynamics to be defined as elements on the Fock space.

⁶ For a choice that can be generalized [47,49].

be associated to cosmological spaces. This restricted class of states are ruled by an effective dynamics which can be understood as the cosmological evolution and must be extracted out of the fundamental quantum dynamics.

The Fock space construction previously presented proves technically very useful in order to address the problem of how to extract continuum physics from GFT. In the full theory, fundamental quanta are associated to the 3-simplices (alternatively spin network-type degrees of freedom) presented in the previous section that can be seen as building blocks of three-dimensional simplicial geometries representing the (boundary) states of the theory, with their quantum simplicial geometric properties encoded in the group-theoretic data; equivalently, the dual picture permits to associate the perturbative expansion of the n-point functions which produces a sum over Feynman diagrams, which are not graphs but 4-dimensional cellular complexes, weighted by a discrete gravity path integral with the same group-theoretic data as dynamical variables. The states of interest are required to have a very large (infinite on the approximation of interest) number of excitations over the Fock vacuum of this field. These microscopic degrees of freedom need to be coarse grained to obtain an elementary piece of continuum space that could serve as the starting point for GFT hydrodynamics. In this spirit, the hydrodynamic approximation implies the negation of the microscopic dynamics (which can only be consistently determined by solving all the Schwinger-Dyson equations of the theory) in pursuit of global ones, which encodes the information corresponding to the phase space of homogeneous geometries in terms of a suitable probability distribution. The hypothesis of condensation hence determines the form of GFT hydrodynamics. The rigorous coarse graining procedure in the full theory implies to capture the collective behaviour by a single statistical distribution over the space of 'single-particle' data [51,52]. In this manner, the theory reflects the distinction between the continuum and the semi-classical approximation, which we have emphasized in the Introduction.

The GFT framework suggests that continuum physics is nothing more than one of the (possibly many) macroscopic phases in which the same quanta of the theory may be organized; one phase in which space and time notions emerge from the collective behaviour of discrete 'geometries' through a phase transition. Various indications for such transitions have been found, but a complete understanding of such phenomenon remains open. Simple models can be found in the context of functional renormalization group analysis in Refs. [53,54], or using Landau–Ginzburg theory in [55].

3.1 The mean field approximation

The construction of collective states steam on the condensate hypothesis, which suggests that each fundamental 3–simplex (or spin network vertex) has the same information, at least in its first approximation. One is able to construct many different condensate states under this hypothesis, each of them characterized on how their constituents are glued to each other. The simplest application of this criteria steam in the analogies with the Gross–Pitaevskii ansatz for Bose–Einstein condensates [56]; apart from choosing states satisfying the wavefunction homogeneity, one also neglects the connectivity information between their constituents. This connectivity can be under-

stood in terms of entanglement and correlations between the quanta of the condensate, which in this simplest approximation vanishes. These states are coherent states of the GFT field operator corresponding to an infinite superposition of states describing disconnected tetrahedra and characterized by a macroscopic occupation number. This 'single-particle' condensate state is written as

$$|\sigma\rangle \equiv \mathcal{N}(\sigma) \exp\left(\hat{\sigma}\right)|0\rangle; \qquad (9)$$

where the normalization factor is given by

$$\mathcal{N}(\sigma) \equiv \exp\left[-\frac{1}{2}\int \mathrm{d}\phi^J \left|\sigma(\phi^J)\right|^2\right] \tag{10}$$

and the condensate operator is defined as

$$\hat{\sigma} \equiv \int d^4g \, d^4\phi \, \sigma(g_I, \phi^J) \, \hat{\varphi}^{\dagger}(g_I, \phi^J) \,. \tag{11}$$

 $\sigma(g_I, \phi^J)$ describes a single collective function which is analogous to the order parameter in the context of the Gross–Pitaevskii model. This state has an important property: it is field coherent since it is an eigenstate of the field annihilation operator $\hat{\phi}$, i.e.

$$\hat{\varphi}(g_I, \phi^J) |\sigma\rangle = \sigma(g_I, \phi^J) |\sigma\rangle , \qquad (12)$$

which is at the heart of its use as a robust and classical-like quantum state. As a general definition of such state, it acquires a nonvanishing expectation value:

$$\sigma(g_I, \phi^J) := \langle \sigma | \hat{\varphi}(g_I, \phi^J) | \sigma \rangle \neq 0 \tag{13}$$

which is clearly different from the Fock vacuum in which $\langle 0|\hat{\varphi}(g_I, \phi^J)|0\rangle = 0$. This approximation is a drastic one, but as it is useful for modeling weakly interacting Bose–Einstein condensates, it will be quite reasonable for constructing a spatially flat FLRW spacetime. In fact, the state (9) satisfies the homogeneity property, which requires for the state to be determined by a single-particle wavefunction. Under this simple approximation, correlations between GFT quanta are ignored, and in the mean field-approximation where no fluctuations are present, $\sigma(g_I, \phi^J)$ represents a homogeneous condensate wave-function that can be directly understood as a classical GFT configuration. These geometric states together with the attached fields ϕ^{J} can macroscopically distinguish between different points over the condensate. Therefore, on the emerged spacetime one is able to define a complete relational dynamics. In this sense, the quantized space does not reside "somewhere", but it itself defines the locus; yet the hydrodynamic limit of GFT defines this locus as an effective theory that is not useful for describing the dynamics of the quanta, but only the collective behaviour of a big number of them. Clearly, fluctuations over this condensed phase which have been ignored can (and should) be re-established as a natural feature due to quantum uncertainty.

In the second-quantized framework, the simplest one-body observable that can be constructed is the number operator

$$\hat{N}(\phi^J) = \int \mathrm{d}^4 g \,\hat{\varphi}^{\dagger}(g_I, \phi^J) \,\hat{\varphi}(g_I, \phi^J) \,. \tag{14}$$

The wavefunction is not normalized; rather its norm determines the number of uncorrelated quanta in the given state

$$N(\phi^{J}) = \langle \sigma | \hat{N}(\phi^{J}) | \sigma \rangle = \int d^{4}g \left| \sigma(g_{I}, \phi^{J}) \right|^{2} \quad (<\infty)$$
⁽¹⁵⁾

which is the (finite) expectation value of the operator (14) at a value ϕ^J for each of the four fields. The homogeneity condition for the wavefunction can be defined over more general condensates containing additional topological structure and defined by a sum over connected graphs of arbitrary complexity [48].

In the remaining part of this section, the two main testable structural consequences of the cosmological principle, namely homogeneity and isotropy, will be discussed, with emphasis on how they are both implemented in GFT. Indeed, the GFT condensate approach involves cosmological models which reproduce the Friedmann–Lemaître–Robertson–Walker (FLRW) spacetime, but in a semiclassical limit where the field operators are replaced by classical fields. This approximation seems to be suitable enough for describing the emergence of a macroscopic and nearly homogeneous universe, where small spatial gradients on the effective geometry can take place. In complete analogy with condense matter theory, if interactions get stronger, the mean-field approximation breaks down. This behaviour is probably expected in the early universe or near the centres of black holes where quantum effects are relevant because of high curvatures; a nice discussion on the ranges of validity of the mean-field approximation can be found in [38].

The Hartree–Fock mean field approximation (9) is the most simple collective wavefunction constructed under the homogeneity principle. Its dynamics can be looked for in the expectation value of the (normal ordered) operator equations of motion obtained from (8). However, one can appeal to the Schwinger–Dyson equations to be solved approximately

$$\langle \sigma | \frac{\delta S}{\delta \bar{\varphi}} | \sigma \rangle = \frac{\delta S[\sigma, \bar{\sigma}]}{\delta \bar{\sigma}(g_I, \phi^J)} = -\mathcal{K} \, \sigma(g_I, \phi^J) + \frac{\delta \mathcal{V}[\sigma, \bar{\sigma}]}{\delta \bar{\sigma}(g_I, \phi^J)} = 0 \,. \tag{16}$$

This expression provides a quantum cosmology-like equation for the 'wavefunction' σ (similar to those obtained in Ref. [57]). The underpinning of the approximation into coherent states is only valid in regimes where the interaction term, which contributes with a non-linear term of the order of $\bar{\sigma}^4$, is subdominant. However, at some point interactions should become dominant since the particle number scales as $|\sigma(g_I, \phi^J)|^2$ and the potential \mathcal{V} contains higher powers of σ and $\bar{\sigma}$. These aspects will become relevant for our discussion in Sect. 5. In this context, the microscopic dynamics of

the GFT quanta can be hydrodynamically described in terms of the collective variable $\sigma(g_I, \phi^J)$, which is the condensate wavefunction.

This hydrodynamic limit is understood as an effective collapse of the Schwinger– Dyson tower of equations into the simplest one. The simplicity of the state $|\sigma\rangle$ makes this equation to coincide with the condensate wavefunction, which is the one-particle correlation function. The continuum nature of the picture arises from the fact that, given the equivalence with the path integral formulation, the coherent state is given by an infinite sum over numbers of disconnected spin networks nodes (implicitly a sum over "not yet connected" graphs). Therefore $|\sigma\rangle$ is a non-perturbative state with respect to the Fock vacuum, but now playing the role of a new non-perturbative vacuum of an effective theory obtained after the hydrodynamical limit.

Analogously to the Gross–Pitaevskii equation, the dynamics of the condensate described by (16) is nonlinear, as is expected in the hydrodynamic context, while all dynamical equations on the Hilbert space and on the GFT Fock space remain linear. This equation is of course a weaker condition than (8); in terms of the truncated Schwinger–Dyson equation, the theoretical error in the resulting effective theory can be estimated by the magnitude of the neglected terms. These terms can be reconstructed in terms of the non-Fock representations for describing interacting fields. With this inequivalent representation of the canonical commutation relations (with respect to the free theory) the interacting theory naturally provides fluctuations over the homogeneous background associated with inhomogeneities of the condensate.

To get an initial insight on the effective dynamics of GFT condensates, two approximations are usually imposed. The first one involves all symmetries of the employed free massless scalar fields ϕ^J used as matter to introduce relational cosmological observables [38]. As mentioned, these matter reference frames allow us to define an effective dynamics formulated exclusively in relational terms, where spacetime points in the emergent spacetime description can be distinguished⁷. Concerning the symmetries of the material clocks and rods, the GFT dynamics should be invariant under

- 1. constant (arbitrary) shifts $\phi^J \mapsto \phi^J + \phi_0^J$,
- 2. the time-reversal or parity transformation $\phi^J \rightarrow -\phi^J$,
- 3. rotations $\phi^i \rightarrow O^i_{\ i} \phi^j$, with $O^i_{\ i} \in O(3)$ and i, j = 1, 2, 3.

the first symmetry forbids any explicit dependence on ϕ^{J} .

As stated before, GFT condensate cosmology has been applied to a general class of GFT models without specifying the forms of \mathcal{K} and \mathcal{V} . However, when regarding cosmological applications, these class of models are usually employed in an effective field theory (or hydrodynamic) approximation; see for instance Refs. [38,39,58–60]. Assuming that the GFT action is invariant under the three symmetries 1 - 3 of the free and massless scalar fields given above, the expansion for \mathcal{K} in derivatives with respect to ϕ^J is forced to be

$$\mathcal{K} = \mathcal{K}^0 + \widetilde{\mathcal{K}}^1 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial (\phi^0)^2} + \mathcal{K}^1 \sum_{i=1}^3 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial (\phi^i)^2} + \dots$$
(17)

⁷ See Sect. 4.2 for clocks and Sect. 5 for rods.

The dots stand for higher derivatives which are suppressed. Let us note that the coefficients \mathcal{K}^i are still differential operators with respect to the SU(2) variables g_I , but with no explicit dependence on ϕ^J . In this way, a truncation up to second order derivatives provides a low-energy GFT dynamics that would agree with cosmology on large scales, and the truncation up to second order derivatives (17) is a good approximation to the full kinetic term. Under this approximation, one assumes that the fluid density $\varphi(\phi^J)$ varies slowly with respect to its arguments, particularly with respect to the relational time. This is what allows the suppression of higher order derivatives with respect to the scalar field variable in the Taylor expansion. Nonetheless, at it will be shown in Sect. 4, this condition may not be satisfied by the condensate wavefunction representing the cosmological spacetime. As explicitly shown in [38], for satisfying the Friedmann equation at late clock times ϕ^0 , it is required an exponential behaviour for the volume operator, and thus for the wavefunction as well. Progress in this issue have been recently discussed in [61].

The second approximation usually made for extracting physical states of the theory is to consider for the building blocks of geometry to be all in the same microscopic configuration and all in a weakly interacting regime in which the effect of \mathcal{V} on the dynamics can be neglected. This implies for the GFT quanta to be uncorrelated; necessary condition for defining the coherent state $|\sigma\rangle$ in a mean-field treatment given by Eq. (9). This drastic approximation is not strictly necessary. In fact, it is not suitable for strong coupling regimes and it breaks down with the grown of the particle number intervening in the picture. The free approximation is valid only in a mesoscopic regime where the particle number for a given volume of the state is not so large. Some studies include the potential \mathcal{V} of the effective dynamics for some particular models of GFT condensates [62,63]. In some cases, interaction terms become important at late times, after a prolonged phase of acceleration, and they can even lead to a recollapse of the universe, while preserving the bounce that replaced the initial singularity [12].

Under both approximations, replacing the general expansion for the kinetic kernel (17) in the r.h.s. of Eq. (16), one gets the following equation of motion

$$\left(\mathcal{K}^0 + \widetilde{\mathcal{K}}^1 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial (\phi^0)^2} + \mathcal{K}^1 \sum_{i=1}^3 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial (\phi^i)^2} + \cdots \right) \sigma(g_I, \phi^J) = 0.$$
(18)

where the dependence on quantum geometric data is encoded in the terms \mathcal{K}^0 and \mathcal{K}^1 which are functions of the group elements (and/or their derivatives). At a quantum level, one approaches this equation using Peter–Weyl theorem [64] to decompose the wavefunction into SU(2) representations. The left "gauge symmetry" in (4) implies for the GFT condensate to obey the identity $\sigma(g_I, \phi^J) = \sigma(hg_I, \phi^J)$ for all $h \in$ SU(2). It is desirable to give a precise geometric interpretation to the condensate as a continuous and homogeneous spatial geometry. In this picture, the condensate wavefunction is interpreted as a probability distribution on the space of such homogeneous geometries. However this interpretation requires a right invariance under the diagonal group action for the condensate; i.e. $\sigma(g_I, \phi^J) = \sigma(g_I k, \phi^J)$ for all $k \in$ SU(2). This yields for the state to only contain the gauge-invariant degrees of freedom of a tetrahedron. Consequently σ becomes a function on SU(2)\SU(2)⁴/SU(2), which is isomorphic to the space of connection degrees of freedom of a homogeneous universe in LQC [65]. However, this symmetry is not one of the GFT field, as it is the left invariance⁸, but an imposed property on certain states aiming at reducing the number of dynamical degrees of freedom.

In the mean-field approximation, self-consistency implies the existence of a regime where the field equation (18) is approximately solved only considering the first kinetic term. The uncorrelated state solving this equation has interesting cosmological applications to be reviewed in what follows. Being a many-particle state with an analogous hydrodynamical treatment, it can contain information about the connection and the metric at many different points in space. To distinguish them, the introduced massless scalar fields represent relational clocks ϕ^0 and relational rods ϕ^i defined over the condensate. Apart from the symmetries 1–3, no assumptions have been made over these fields.

3.2 Isotropic condensed states

At this point we have obtained a condensate-like structure characterized by a nearly spatial homogeneity; however, one more feature is needed for making contact with usual cosmology; namely, isotropy. In what follows, a further restriction on the structure of the wavefunction of the condensate will be imposed. As it will be shown in the following and in Sect. 4, the restriction to isotropic modes for the microscopic states leads to further simplifications that allow us to reconstruct isotropic quantities like the spatial volume, the cosmological scale factor and thus the Hubble rate from $\sigma(g_I, \phi^J)$. In the GFT context, it is argued that the natural way to require isotropy is to impose the most 'isotropic' condensate configuration. In classical geometry one would think of equilateral tetrahedra whose four faces are equal and the resulting volume is maximized. This ideas have been translated to the quantum picture in [38,58].

Regarding the analogy with equilateral tetrahedra, one can postulate that each of the four links/faces g_I are coloured with spin-j irreducible representation of SU(2). The correspondence between the equal areas of the faces of the tetrahedron and the restriction to an expansion over isotropic modes only is understood as expanding over the same four j_I , i.e. $j_1 = j_2 = j_3 = j_4$, one for each (of the same) coloured link associated to each node of the spin network. In this approximation, the spin network vertices are said to be monochromatic and, together with the homogeneous restriction, all of them are exactly equal. Secondly, with respect to the volume maximization of the classical tetrahedron, the SU(2)-invariant subspace reduces the wavefunction to a simple form if written in terms of linear combinations of a pair of suitable intertwiners: $\overline{\mathcal{I}}_{mn}^{j,i_l}$ and \mathcal{I}_{mn}^{j,i_l} , one associated to the left gauge invariance and one to the right closure condition. These intertwiners define invariant mappings between SU(2) representations and they are elements of the Hilbert space of states of a single tetrahedron. The intertwiners should be chosen so that they are eigenstate of the LQG volume operator with an associated eigenvalue being the largest possible for the given j.

⁸ This choice is a convention and can be exchanged; on the other way around, one can start with a right "gauge symmetry" on the φ field and then impose the left invariance over σ obtaining equivalent results.

By decomposing the wavefunction $\sigma(g_I, \phi^J)$, solution of the equation of motion (18), into a basis of orthonormal functions given by the Wigner $D_{mn}^j(g_I)$ -matrices, we group all dependence on g_I in fixed functions $\mathbf{D}^j(g_I)$, which are an appropriate convolution of four Wigner D-matrices with intertwiners⁹, such that quantum geometric properties of the field are stored in the scalar wavefunctions $\sigma_{j_I, I_l I_r} \equiv \sigma_j(\phi^J)$ that now only depend on the volume of the tetrahedron (or equivalently, on the surface area of one of its faces), as well as on the scalar field ϕ^J . Therefore, the restricted mean field expanded in irreducible SU(2) representations is written as

$$\sigma(g_I, \phi^J) = \sum_{j \in \frac{\mathbb{N}_0}{2}} \sigma_j(\phi^J) \mathbf{D}^j(g_I)$$
(19)

where the coarse-grained degrees of freedom are now captured by each of the wavefunctions $\sigma_j(\phi^J)$. Refs. [66,67] discuss whether the restriction to expansions in only a single spin *j* labelling the irreducible representations of SU(2) can be relaxed, together with their consequent effective dynamics in the large-scale limit. Recall that lifting the isotropic restriction allows to investigate anisotropic GFT condensate configurations. According to [67], anisotropies play an important role only at small values of the relational clock ϕ^0 (i.e. at small volumes), whereas at late times the isotropic mode become dominant.

For the usual GFT actions, the kinetic operator \mathcal{K} only contains derivatives, but no explicit dependence on g_I . In the common situation where all terms in the expansion of \mathcal{K} in Eq. (18) are general functions of the Laplace–Beltrami operators with respect to the SU(2) variables g_I , we can define the following coefficients

$$\mathcal{K}^{0}\mathbf{D}^{j}(g_{I}) := -B_{j}\mathbf{D}^{j}(g_{I}), \qquad \widetilde{\mathcal{K}}^{1}\mathbf{D}^{j}(g_{I}) := A_{j}\mathbf{D}^{j}(g_{I}),$$
$$\mathcal{K}^{1}\mathbf{D}^{j}(g_{I}) := C_{j}\mathbf{D}^{j}(g_{i}); \qquad (20)$$

 A_j , B_j and C_j are *j*-dependent couplings depending on the original GFT kinetic terms and with no further derivatives. Each Laplacian acting on each g_I contributes with an eigenvalue -j(j + 1). Recall that $\mathbf{D}^j(g_I)$ encode the monochromatic (equilateral) character of the spin network nodes (tetrahedra). The Wigner matrices are eigenfunctions of the SU(2) Laplacian, then the Peter–Weyl decomposition leads to a decoupling of (18) into independent equations for each *j*, written as

$$\left(-B_{j} + A_{j} \,\partial_{\phi^{0}}^{2} + C_{j} \sum_{i=1}^{3} \partial_{\phi^{i}}^{2}\right) \sigma_{j}(\phi^{J}) = 0.$$
(21)

In homogeneous configurations, the handling of "rods" ϕ^i loses meaning. Therefore, when deriving the global aspects of a FLRW cosmology only the first two terms matter.

⁹ In the convolution of Wigner *D*-matrices with SU(2) intertwiners, the usual range of values for the magnetic indices is taken: $-j \le m$, $n \le j$. The indices *i* labels the possible intertwiners elements in a basis of the Hilbert space; ι_l and ι_r points to the imposition of the left and right invariance to the field. To a detailed construction of the wavefunction see for instance [38]; here we just sum up the main steps for deriving a cosmological sector from the full theory.

In the next section, it will be shown that the two corresponding coefficients, A_j and B_j , can be constrained when requiring the theory to be compatible with Friedmann equations. However, condensate fluctuations are expected to break the homogeneity; analogously as when in the cosmological model one considers deviations from the cosmological principle. In such a case, "rods" must be reintroduced to locate these deviations, whose power spectrum is probably expected to be associated to classical inhomogeneities observed in the cosmic microwave background (CMB) spectrum. At this point, the third term becomes meaningful. We will return to discuss this topic in Sect. 5.

Interestingly, if one expands σ_j in Fourier modes with respect to the spatial coordinates pictured as the scalar fields ϕ^i , a complete set of solutions to (21) can be obtained; this is

$$\sigma_j^{K_i}(\phi^J) = e^{iK_i\phi^i} \left[\alpha_j^+ \exp\left(\sqrt{\frac{B_j + C_jK^2}{A_j}} \phi^0\right) + \alpha_j^- \exp\left(-\sqrt{\frac{B_j + C_jK^2}{A_j}} \phi^0\right) \right],\tag{22}$$

with α_j^+ and α_j^- as arbitrary constants. The coupled scalar fields act as 'tools' to define local coordinates; hence any coordinate system constituted by physical degrees of freedom must be relational. In the limit in which they are turned off, we obtain a homogeneous solution. Being the condensate wavefunction at a given time ϕ^0 entirely determined by just one geometric quantity, the spin *j*, the only geometric quantities that can be extracted from this condensate wavefunction are isotropic quantities like the total spatial volume, the Hubble rate, etc.

4 The Friedmann universe

Let us now consider proper GFT cosmological models. In this section it will be shown how to obtain a FLRW universe from the condensate wavefunction (22). However, we first give the main ingredients of cosmological implications derived from General Relativity to show explicitly how the previous approximations to GFT quantum gravity formalism lead us to a quantum picture consistent with classical results in the continuum and semiclassical limit.

4.1 Classical general relativity

It is well known how to introduce physical reference frames and how to define relational dynamics in general relativity. Let us consider a massless free scalar field that plays the role of a relational clock in a flat FLRW metric of the form

$$ds^{2} = -N^{2}(t) dt^{2} + a^{2}(t) dx_{3}^{2} .$$
(23)

The structure of the metric entails a foliation for the universe on isotropic and homogeneous hypersurfaces dx_3^2 with flat intrinsic geometry in \mathbb{R}^3 parametrized, relative to one another, by a scale factor a(t).

The action for the scalar field, considering limiting cases in which the backreaction of reference matter on the geometry can be neglected, is

$$S_{\phi} = -\frac{1}{2} \int d^4 x \sqrt{-g} g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi \, \partial_{\nu} \phi \; ; \qquad (24)$$

hence the matter clock obeys the Klein-Gordon equation, which reduces to

$$\nabla^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\phi = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\left(\frac{a^{3}}{N}\frac{\mathrm{d}\phi}{\mathrm{d}t}\right) = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \quad \frac{a^{3}}{N}\frac{\mathrm{d}\phi}{\mathrm{d}t} = \mathrm{constant}\,.$$
 (25)

The assumption of a nonnull constant provides a good characteristic for the clock ϕ ; as its corresponding momentum π_{ϕ} is conserved, it has a monotonic evolution and thus, it can be written as $\phi = \phi_0 T$. If for instance ϕ_0 has dimensions of mass, the 'temporal' scalar field T becomes dimensionless.

The other equation to solve is

$$\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}a}{\mathrm{d}T}\right)^2 = \frac{4\pi\,G}{3}\,\phi_0{}^2\,a^2\,,\tag{26}$$

which is a Friedmann equation giving two independent solutions:

$$a(T) = a_0 \exp\left(\pm \sqrt{\frac{4\pi G}{3}} \phi\right),\tag{27}$$

each of them corresponds to an expanding or contracting universe, respectively. According to the classical solution, a singularity $V \rightarrow 0$ appears in the far past where, due to our choice of time field ϕ , corresponds to infinity. However, this singularity is reached in a finite proper time, if written in the propitious coordinates.

A quantum theory of gravity coupled to a massless scalar field should reproduce at some point the last equation but avoiding the singularity behaviour. This is the basic idea since the early days of quantum cosmology [68] that later on also informed the foundations of LQC. The requirement for the temporal coordinate to satisfy the harmonic condition avoids quantization ambiguities when choosing the lapse function [69].

4.2 The homogeneous universe in GFT

At this point we have a condensate with an isotropic structure imposed from the quantum symmetries. If spatial homogeneity is also desired, this would correspond to demand the Fourier mode $\mathbf{K} = 0$ for the mean field solution in the general solution (22). This requirement makes the rods ϕ^i , with i = 1, 2, 3, meaningless, as there is

no need to refer to locations over an exactly homogeneous state. Then, the mean field would have the form

$$\sigma_i(\phi^J) \equiv \sigma_i(\phi^0) , \qquad (28)$$

being only a function of one scalar "time field" ϕ^0 , playing the role of a relational clock. This implies for the condensate wavefunction to become

$$\sigma_j(\phi^0) = \alpha_j^+ \exp\left(\sqrt{\frac{B_j}{A_j}}\phi^0\right) + \alpha_j^- \exp\left(-\sqrt{\frac{B_j}{A_j}}\phi^0\right).$$
(29)

If we assume that the condensate mean field takes its homogeneous form, the associated (background) universe of course would result homogeneous.

Once the mean field solution is found, it is of interest to define the relational 3-volume for this state. This can be done by means of the second-quantized vertex volume operator. This one-body operator generically would define for the mean field wavefunction (22) a local volume element at the spacetime point specified by values of the reference fields, this is $\hat{V}(\varphi^J)$. In the particular case of the homogeneous universe under consideration, the constrain (28) would then define the element volume only at a given relational "time" ϕ^0

$$\hat{V}(\phi^{0}) = \int_{\mathrm{SU}(2)^{4} \times \mathrm{SU}(2)^{4}} \mathrm{d}^{4}g \, \mathrm{d}^{4}g' \, \hat{\varphi}^{\dagger}(g_{I}, \phi^{0}) V^{LQG}(g_{I}, g_{I}') \hat{\varphi}(g_{I}', \phi^{0}) \,. \tag{30}$$

The matrix elements $V^{LQG}(g, g') \equiv \langle g_I | V^{LQG} | g'_I \rangle$ are the matrix element of the volume operator between single-vertex spin networks states in LQG [70]. Although there are several different definitions of the volume operator in the theory [71–73], all of them agree when 4–valent vertex are considered [74,75]. In fact, it is helpful to choose a basis of intertwiners \mathcal{I} that diagonalizes the action of the LQG volume operator on a spin-network node. Hence, the heuristic picture for spin networks implies for the underlying quantum theory that the quanta φ will carry a definite volume given by the corresponding eigenvalue of the LQG volume operator, therefore interpreted as "grains of space".

This is not the case for the collective wavefunction. Let us now go back to the homogeneous GFT state $\sigma_j(\phi^0)$, the expectation value for the volume operator (30) can be evaluated immediately when coherent states of the form (9) are considered

$$\langle \hat{V}(\phi^{0}) \rangle = \int d^{4}g \, d^{4}g' \, \bar{\sigma}(g_{I}, \phi^{0}) \, V(g_{I}, g_{I}') \, \sigma(g_{I}', \phi^{0}). \tag{31}$$

This result corresponds to the total 3–volume at a relational time ϕ^0 , associated to such condensate state. This procedure is not a novelty of GFT; for instance, the total volume of the universe at a fixed value of the scalar field is one of the main relational observables of interest in LQC [69,76].

If we also impose the isotropic wavefunction constraint discussed in (19), since the volume operator is diagonal when written in terms of SU(2) representations, the volume expectation value of the condensate in such a state reduces simply to

$$\langle \hat{V}(\phi^0) \rangle = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} V_j \left| \sigma_j(\phi^0) \right|^2.$$
(32)

The latter expression is written in terms of the local particle number density for each quanta of spin *j*. The approximate eigenvalue of the first quantized volume operator acting upon a node, although depending on the intertwiner used to define $\mathbf{D}_j(g_I)$, is very well approximated for each *j* by $V_j \sim \ell_{PI}^3 j^{3/2}$.

The evolution of the local volume elements then provides the macroscopic behaviour of the state (29), which will depend on the choice of the initial parameters α_j^+ and α_j^- . Some general statements can be sketched out for some GFT models: if the ratio B_{j_0}/A_{j_0} is positive and develops a maximum for a given $j = j_0$, except for the fine-tuned cases with $\alpha_j^+ = 0$ or $\alpha_j^- = 0$, the spin j_0 will dominate over all others. Hence for almost any condensate homogeneous wavefunction of the form (28), its associated volume will asymptotically behaves as

$$\langle \hat{V}(\phi^{0}) \rangle \xrightarrow{\phi^{0} \to -\infty} |\sigma_{j_{0}}^{-}|^{2} \exp\left(-2\sqrt{\frac{B_{j_{0}}}{A_{j_{0}}}} \phi^{0}\right) ,$$

$$\langle \hat{V}(\phi^{0}) \rangle \xrightarrow{\phi^{0} \to +\infty} |\sigma_{j_{0}}^{+}|^{2} \exp\left(+2\sqrt{\frac{B_{j_{0}}}{A_{j_{0}}}} \phi^{0}\right) ;$$

$$(33)$$

where the global constants are related to the volume eigenvalue assigned to the spin j_0 by $|\sigma_{j_0}^{\pm}|^2 = V_{j_0} |\alpha_{j_0}^{\pm}|^2$. In such a situation an exponentially large number of quanta are characterised by a single spin j_0 excitation, implying mainly a constant volume per quantum. This domination of a single and small spin component in the cosmological dynamics of the homogeneous and isotropic background can be shown to take place at later times [77]; however it is also achieved exponentially fast and hence it can be expected to be an acceptable approximation also at earlier times [66]. Thus, the evolution of the total volume only depends on the growth of the number of particles with spin j_0 given by the exponential factor in Eq. (33).

These GFT states closely match the heuristic relation between LQG and LQC, where this type of quantum states are usually assumed [78–81]. Despite the exact relation between both theories remains open, some proposals analyse a cosmological sector of LQG built up on states with large number of spin network nodes, all labelled by the same quantum numbers. The nodes are considered to be disconnected and all links are dressed with the same SU(2) representation label. Commonly, the spins are taken to be j = 1/2, and homogeneity considerations justify the same number of links per node, typically chosen as 4–valent nodes. Shortly, LQG also suggests to consider quantum geometry condensates where all its constituents are quanta in the same state [82]. All these features are naturally encoded in the cosmological results obtained from the GFT formalism; hence the latter can be considered as a field theory reformulation of LQG and spin foam models. However, it is worth mentioning that a derivation of LQC from Hamiltonian formulations of LQG is a largely outstanding challenge [83].

Interestingly, for large (positive or negative) ϕ^0 , the coefficients A_j and B_j are identified with the low energy (emergent) Newton constant *G* as follows: $B_{j_0}/A_{j_0} = 3\pi G$,

Eq. (33) reproduces the general solution of the Friedmann equation in (27). Therefore, the resulting expression point towards a regime where the universe expands to a macroscopic size (if $\sigma_{j_0}^{\pm} \neq 0$). This compatibility was one of the main results of [38,58] and is obtained for a range of parameters of the microscopic dynamics in a suitable semiclassical regime and, as mentioned before, for generic initial conditions [77].

It is also worth mentioning some properties characterizing this range of GFT models with the desired asymptotic behaviour. First, at small volumes, in the Planck regime, the theory interpolates between the classical expanding and contracting solutions (27) of the classical Friedmann dynamics. This implies that the universe undergoes a bounce, i.e. the volume elements never go through zero avoiding or 'resolving' the classical big bang singularity. In fact, it is possible to show that a singularity where $\langle \hat{V}(\phi^0) \rangle$ strictly vanishes for some value of the clock field ϕ^0 is only possible for special (hence fine-tuned) initial conditions. Therefore, instead of a singularity, there is just a very dense region where an effective quantum force appears like a repulsion that prevents the collapse. Secondly, the asymptotic behaviour in Eq. (33) shows an exponentially growing phase in both temporal directions: to the far past and the future (contrary to the classical solution that, as mentioned in Sect. 4.1, presents a singularity in the far past). Third, properties of interest are the corrections to the classical Friedmann dynamics. Similar derivations to LQC dynamics can be found from GFT condensate cosmology; see for instance [84]. Indeed, when a single spin dominates, general mean field solutions provide corrections that match with the "improved dynamics" of LQC [85].

More recently, a different analysis of GFT using Hamiltonian methods has been developed in Ref. [86,87]; this topic is further discussed in Sect. 6. There are many results that can serve as a starting point for GFT phenomenology: the generic quantum bounce can be followed by a subsequent acceleration replacing inflation [88], the inclusion of interactions in the GFT [67,89] and their subsequent effects which become dominant away from the bounce.

5 Beyond homogeneity

One of the main points of any quantum gravity theory is how to derive relevant quantities to be compared to standard cosmology and observations. An important step towards a more realistic GFT condensate cosmology program is to construct more realistic and testable situations, which would certain require to extend all results from exactly homogeneous to inhomogeneous universes and to go beyond the considered isotropic restriction. Recent advances regarding the later has already been mentioned along this text; exploration of anisotropies can be found in [67]. If quantum gravity is to offer the picture of the earliest moments of our universe, anisotropic perturbations must play a role. For instance, the systematic investigation of them over an isotropic background in the vicinity of the bounce can be found in [66]. Regarding the former, this section will briefly discuss how to address inhomogeneities and study more general configurations and their dynamics.

Modern cosmology taught us that inhomogeneities in the very early universe may be the seeds for structure formation [90]. Therefore, the extension of the GFT framework beyond the spatial homogeneity by the encompass of cosmological perturbations into the formalism, would allow to construct more realistic cosmological scenarios where inhomogeneities are present. The strategy is to compute the non-vanishing power spectrum of cosmological perturbations over the mean field state discussed in previous sections. Following the analogy with Bose–Einstein condensates, perturbations can be added to (29) in an analogous manner as phonons appear as deviations from condensates with exact homogeneity. In fact, GFT phonons were firstly proposed in [47], however their interpretation was not clear until rod matter fields were included. With the inclusion of ϕ^i , quantum fluctuations in the local volume could be naturally interpreted as seeds of cosmological inhomogeneities. Afterwards, these perturbations around the mean field solution are to be converted into classical inhomogeneities in a later stage of the universe [59].

Different approaches have been considered to include perturbations. For instance, one can associate a constant mean field solution but only to 'local' patches, labelling them by making use of the four scalar fields coordinates. The inhomogeneity relies in the fact that different patches do not necessarily have the same constant mean field solution, thus the effective homogeneous geometry does not necessary coincide among different patches. This picture for incorporating inhomogeneities is based on the so-called 'separate universe approach' [91,92], whose main characteristics are considered in the GFT condensate cosmology framework [93].

In the remaining of this section, we will focus first on quantum fluctuations of the local 3-volume around the exactly homogeneous background condensate derived in Eq. (29). With the aim of connecting GFT results to observations, since we do not have direct access to local volume densities, the cosmological perturbations of physical relevance are the matter density perturbations. However, the relation between the later and the volume density perturbations is in general gauge dependent. We will finish this review discussing how to extend the formalism to include perturbations in the matter density. The GFT models discussed above have enough degrees of freedom for describing inhomogeneous quantum geometries and their effective dynamics which is expected to be a more realistic picture for fundamental cosmology. Quantum fluctuations would then represent the quantum gravitational mechanism for explaining the origin of these inhomogeneities. This procedure is analogous to the usual treatment in inflation where the power spectrum of quantum fluctuations over a homogeneous quantum state is computed (instead of a quantum state on a classically perturbed geometry). These fluctuations are generically expected because of quantum uncertainty and they would *freeze out* producing the classical pattern on inhomogeneities currently observed in the CMB [94]. Besides, these homogeneities would provide a lower bound on deviations from exact homogeneity in GFT [95].

5.1 Volume density perturbations

Let us consider the cosmological scenario in which a GFT condensate phase modeled as a background state with perturbations on top of it, evolves to the expanding universe of classical cosmology. For introducing vacuum fluctuations, the notion of "wavenumber" is a must. If the starting point for localizing events in time was solved by the introduction of a scalar field ϕ^0 used as a clock to label the evolution of the geometry; the problem of localizing events in spacetime can be solved by re-establishing the four scalar fields (in four spacetime dimensions), using now these scalars as a physical coordinate system. The condition (28) must be relaxed so as to assign a clock and 3 rods to each point of the condensate to characterize deviations from homogeneity. Consequently, one must replace also $\phi^0 \rightarrow \phi^J$ into the volume operator (30) from where the effective cosmological dynamics has been derived from. Now, the operator $\hat{V}(\phi^J)$ refers to the differential local volume element at the spacetime location specified by the components of the ϕ^J field. Scalar perturbations in cosmology are then obtained from perturbations in these local volume is then $\hat{V}(\phi^J) \delta^4 \phi^J$ and the total 3–volume is obtained by integrating over the rods ϕ^i at a given moment of the relational time ϕ^0

$$\hat{V}(\phi^0) \equiv \int \mathrm{d}^3 \phi^i \; \hat{V}(\phi^0, \phi^i) \;. \tag{34}$$

This expression is still interpreted as the total volume of the universe modelled as a condensate state, in analogy to (30).

The main idea is that cosmic structures are expected to be formed from early local volume fluctuations. In the GFT cosmology approach, this pattern is expected to be encoded in the correlation functions for the geometric observables. These correlation functions encode the 'true' fundamental quantum dynamics. For the ongoing discussion, let us compute correlations in local volume fluctuations over the state (9). It is defined the local volume fluctuation operator as

$$\delta \hat{V}(\phi^J) = \hat{V}(\phi^J) - \langle \hat{V}(\phi^J) \rangle \tag{35}$$

with respect to the generalized volume operator $\hat{V}(\phi^J)$. Then, it is of interest to compute the following two-points function

$$\langle \delta \hat{V}(\phi^J) \, \delta \hat{V}(\phi^{\prime J}) \rangle \,. \tag{36}$$

The idea of characterizing perturbations employing matrix elements of the one-body squared volume operator $V^2(g_I, g'_I)$ is not new. This procedure has been first presented in [95] but without referring to any notion of rods. Consequently, the results that can be derived from this formalism can only achieve global properties. Later on, in [60] the formalism has been generalized to include rods. This modification enables us to extract local information regarding perturbations. As it will be discussed in the following, the transformation to momentum representation allows to write the power spectrum of inhomogeneities into the usual Fourier space form.

Let us now consider perturbations around exact homogeneity. These are written as

$$\sigma_j(\phi^J) = \sigma_j(\phi^0) \left[1 + \epsilon \,\psi_j(\phi^J) \right]; \tag{37}$$

where the field $\psi_j(\phi^J)$ represents condensate perturbations 'located' by means of the four scalar fields. Fourier transforming three of them, the three scalar fields corre-

sponding to the spatial directions defined by the rods ϕ^i to their momenta k_i , notions of wave length with respect to these reference frame fields are obtained. Following [60], the power spectrum for the volume perturbations can be derived computing the quantum fluctuations of the volume expressed as the two point function (36) for the state (37), giving

$$\langle \hat{V}(\phi^{0},k_{i})\hat{V}(\phi'^{0},k_{i}')\rangle - \langle \hat{V}(\phi^{0},k_{i})\rangle \langle \hat{V}(\phi'^{0},k_{i}')\rangle = \delta(\phi^{0}-\phi'^{0})\sum_{j}V_{j}^{2}|\sigma_{j}(\phi^{0})|^{2} \\ \times \left\{ (2\pi)^{3}\delta^{3}(k_{i}+k_{i}') + \epsilon \left[\psi_{j}(\phi^{0},k_{i}+k_{i}') + \overline{\psi_{j}(\phi^{0},-k_{i}-k_{i}')}\right] \right\}.$$
(38)

In agreement with the results obtained when considering an exact homogeneous background, the first term is naturally scale invariant with respect to the rod wavenumbers k_i , and its scale depends only on the reference matter through the matter clock ϕ^0 . Besides, in this very same term, the delta function in the momentum implies a deep connection between scale invariance and translational invariance. The second term corresponds to first deviations from the scale invariant homogeneous mean-field, associated to inhomogeneous fluctuations, which naturally have small relative amplitude. In line with the usual cosmological perturbations, their shape must solve the condensate dynamics and they are fully determined in a two-fold manner by the coupling with the background on the one side, and by their own dynamics on the other one.

A magnitude of particular interest can be defined by the amplitude of the volume fluctuations relative to the background; this is the quotient between at least the two correlation functions (38) and the squared background volume regularized by the integral over the added matter rods ϕ^i . This background volume computed in (34) can be rewritten as

$$\langle V(\phi^0) \rangle = \int d^3 \phi^i \sum_j V_j |\sigma_j(\phi^0)|^2 , \qquad (39)$$

so that it is explicitly associated with the number of quanta that makes up the condensate. Recalling the previous analysis regarding states with a dominance of a single spin j_0 and keeping the dominant part of (38), the leading term of the power spectrum of such perturbations becomes

$$\mathcal{P}_{\delta V}(k) = \frac{V_{j_0}{}^2 |\sigma_{j_0}(\phi^0)|^2}{\left(\int d^3 \phi^i V_{j_0} |\sigma_{j_0}(\phi^0)|^2\right)^2} = \frac{1}{\left(\int d^3 \phi^i \right) N(\phi^0)}.$$
(40)

In the last equality, the dependence with the number of quanta $N(\phi^0) = \int d^3 \phi^i |\sigma_{j_0}(\phi^0)|^2$ has been made explicit in the denominator. Therefore, the relative amplitude of these scalar perturbations decreases as $\sim 1/N$; i.e. they decrease with the growth of the number of quanta N while ϕ^0 evolves and the universe expands. In the particular case in which $C_j/B_j < 0$ in the equation of motion (21), at large volumes, scale invariance is approached more closely. As reported in Ref. [60], inhomogeneous

terms decay relative to the homogeneous background thus, under these conditions, inhomogeneous perturbations are further suppressed. Besides, if interacting GFT are considered [12], the obtained long-lasting accelerated expansion (after the bounce) is accompanied by a further suppression of the deviations from scale invariance, suggesting further investigations of GFT interactions. These scaling results are in agreement with the typical relative size of fluctuations in a condensate. Analogously, these fluctuations arise naturally in the GFT condensate approach, but within a quantum gravity theory for gravity and matter, which has a properly defined ultraviolet completion.

5.2 Matter density perturbations

We have seen that perturbations of local volume observables around a quantum state which solves the condensate dynamics and that thus depends on the approximation scheme summarized in the previous sections, exist as quantum fluctuations given by the two-point function (36). These perturbations can be expressed through the expectation values and fluctuations of local volume elements given by the GFT Fock space operator $\hat{V}(\phi^J)$ and in the hydrodynamic approximation, they have been generated with a small constant amplitude at all scales in the Fourier modes k_i and their amplitudes. When only a single spin $j = j_0$ dominates, their amplitude scales as $\sqrt{V(\phi^0)}$ as one would expect in general for extensive quantities such as the volume. Consequently, its corresponding power spectrum is nearly scale-invariant; when the mean field description is exactly homogeneous, an exact scale-invariant power spectrum for volume density perturbations is found.

Although volume density perturbations are simple to compute in the full GFT formalism staying within the full quantum gravity framework (but in a hydrodynamic approximation), their relation to matter density perturbations are in general not gauge-invariant and they can not be directly related to cosmological observables. The usual gauge freedom of cosmological perturbation theory is absent because of the use of the values of matter fields as relational coordinates. If the semiclassical low-curvature universe described within standard perturbation theory is preceded by a deep quantum-gravity phase in which perturbations originate as quantum fluctuations of the GFT field, this field theory must be a field theory for quantum gravity and matter. Therefore, the full calculation must involve quantum fluctuations both in the 3–volume element and in the matter energy density of the scalar matter. Furthermore, their relation, in general gauge dependent, must be connected to the usual gauge-invariant variables for observable scalar perturbations in cosmology.

In the following we will review how to extend the previous arguments to perturbations on the matter density. The starting point is the total kinetic energy for the whole matter content introduced in the theory so far. In analogy with the classical kinetic energy density of the scalar field, $\rho_{kin} = \pi_{\phi}^2/(2V^2)$, one can define its corresponding analogue in the GFT context by replacing the classical expressions with the expectation values

$$\rho_{\rm kin} = \sum_{I=0}^{3} \rho_{\rm kin}^{I} \qquad \text{whit} \qquad \rho_{\rm kin}^{I} = \frac{1}{2} \, \frac{\langle \hat{\pi}_{\phi}^{I}(\phi^{J}) \rangle^{2}}{\langle \hat{V}(\phi^{J}) \rangle^{2}} \,. \tag{41}$$

The self-adjoint relational momentum operator of the scalar field ϕ^I has been obtained in Ref. [38] as the observable defined by setting $\mathcal{O}_{\{j_I\}} = -(i/2)\partial/\partial\phi^I$; i.e.

$$\hat{\pi}^{I}_{\phi}(\phi^{J}) = -\frac{i}{2} \int \mathrm{d}^{4}g \left[\hat{\varphi}^{\dagger}(g_{I},\phi^{J}) \frac{\partial \hat{\varphi}(g_{I},\phi^{J})}{\partial \phi^{I}} - \frac{\partial \hat{\varphi}^{\dagger}(g_{I},\phi^{J})}{\partial \phi^{I}} \hat{\varphi}(g_{I},\phi^{J}) \right] , (42)$$

and $\langle \hat{V}(\phi^J) \rangle^2$ is the expectation value of the local volume element (30).

At leading order, perturbations in the total kinetic energy density (41) are given by

$$\delta\rho_{\rm kin}(\phi^J) = \sum_{I=0}^3 \frac{\pi^I_{\phi}(\phi^J)\,\delta\pi^I_{\phi}(\phi^J)}{V^2(\phi^J)} - 2\,\rho_{\rm kin}(\phi^J)\,\frac{\delta V(\phi^J)}{V(\phi^J)}\,.$$
(43)

As a consequence of the near-homogeneity assumption the dynamics is well approximated by ignoring spatial derivatives in favor of time derivatives. Therefore one expects for the dynamics of the free scalar fields to be completely dominated by their kinetic energy, neglecting any gradient energy. For a homogeneous, isotropic mean field of the form (28), derivatives of σ_j with respect to the rod fields vanish. Then we have

$$\pi^i_{\phi} \equiv \langle \hat{\pi}^i_{\phi}(\phi^J) \rangle = 0, \qquad (44)$$

for the three spatial scalar fields, i = 1, 2, 3. Therefore, the only nonnull conjugate momentum from Eq. (42) is $\pi_{\phi}^{0}(\phi^{0}) = (-i/2) [\bar{\sigma}(\phi^{0})\sigma'(\phi^{0}) - \bar{\sigma}'(\phi^{0})\sigma(\phi^{0})]$. Accordingly, Eq. (41) simplifies to $\rho_{\text{kin}} = \rho_{\text{kin}}^{0}$ and thus, only the clock field ϕ^{0} contributes non-negligibly to (43). $\delta \pi_{\phi}^{0}(\phi^{J})$ and $\delta V(\phi^{J})$ are the only corrections functions with nonnull contributions.

To have a good reference frame, a nonzero energy density is ultimately required. This energy density can be as small as desired, hence any infinitesimal perturbation around the homogeneity restriction in Eq. (28) can lead to a good reference frame. Therefore, if we assume a perturbation around (28) to be valid, one can consider null its leading order in which such perturbations vanish exactly.

Taking into account all these simplifications, the fluctuations in the kinetic energy reduces to the two-point function which can be ultimately simplified to

$$\frac{\langle \delta \rho_{\rm kin}(\phi^0, k_i) \, \delta \rho_{\rm kin}(\phi^{\prime 0}, k_i') \rangle}{\rho_{\rm kin}^2(\phi^0)} = 4 \, \frac{\langle \delta V(\phi^0, k_i) \, \delta V(\phi^{\prime 0}, k_i') \rangle}{V^2(\phi^0)} + 4 \, \frac{\langle \delta \pi_{\phi}^0(\phi^0, k_i) \, \delta \pi_{\phi}^0(\phi^{\prime 0}, k_i') \rangle}{\pi_{\phi}^0^2(\phi^0)} - 8 \, \frac{\langle \delta \pi_{\phi}^0(\phi^0, k_i) \, \delta V(\phi^{\prime 0}, k_i') \rangle}{\pi_{\phi}^0(\phi^0) \, V(\phi^0)} \,.$$

$$(45)$$

All the terms in the later expression involve observables which are independent of any of the rod fields ϕ^i , i = 1, 2, 3 (neither multiplicatively or in derivatives) and in the considered approximation, the mean field has no dependence on these fields either. For this choice of mean field, the first term has been already computed in the previous subsection, where it has been shown that a scale-invariant power spectrum with small amplitude is obtained. The other two terms written in this form behaves the same and

consequently, Eq. (45) give a scale-invariant power spectrum for both, matter density perturbations and volume density perturbations, with the small amplitude still scaling as 1/N, as expected due to generic macroscopic observables defined for many-particles states. However, scale invariance can be broken when different types of corrections are taken in consideration. On first place, it has been discussed in the previous subsection that if deviations from exact homogeneity are consideration. With respect to matter density perturbations, since at some point one should consider that rod fields acquire a nonzero background energy density, then their contribution to the expressions for perturbations should be also considered. This computation of this contribution can be found in [60]. Besides, if the gradient energy that has been previously neglected is taken into account, scale invariance is not expected in general to be preserve, even for the homogeneous mean field restriction. Certainly, more work is needed to verify whether the assumptions discussed here are dynamically justified, even in presence of more realistic matter fields.

The results outline a concrete formalism for deriving a power spectrum of cosmological perturbations directly from a theory of quantum gravity, however to bring results closer to observational tests, more work is required. Being cosmological perturbations seeded by the quantum fluctuations produced as the natural behaviour of the quantum gravity condensate, one plausible situation is that perhaps, the observed initial power spectrum of quantum fluctuations is a kinematical property at a given time. However, this primordial quantum fluctuations must be converted into classical perturbations during the propagation, "freeze out" and amplification when de universe expands. Ref. [59], for instance, provides a physical mechanism for the emergence of a slightly inhomogeneous spacetime, computing the transition from the initial quantum fluctuations present in the deep quantum gravity regime to the usual gauge-invariant variables for observable scalar perturbations in cosmology. This provides one more step towards a connection with the potentially observable spectrum of classical perturbations from full quantum gravity.

As mentioned before, the definition of volume perturbations depends in general on the chosen gauge, and its relation to the density perturbations and the curvature perturbation variable can be expressed through the gauge-invariant "curvature perturbation on uniform-density hypersurfaces" (see for instance [96])

$$\zeta = \Phi + \frac{H}{\dot{\rho}}\delta\rho \tag{46}$$

In the later formula, Φ is the Bardeen variable parametrizing scalar perturbations, H is the Hubble parameter and ρ is the background matter density with $\delta\rho$ their corresponding density perturbations. Although, different gauge choices permits different relations between the terms in the r.h.s. of Eq. (46), this gauge freedom is lost due to the introduction of the relational coordinates. In the GFT context reference scalar matter fields define a harmonic gauge [97]. The full computation of the observationally relevant dimensionless power spectrum of the gauge-invariant curvature perturbation variable ζ in the GFT condensate approach can be found in [59] and its expression at leading order is given by

$$\Delta_{\zeta}^{2}(k) \sim \frac{m_{\rm Pl} V}{24\pi \ j_{0}^{3/2} M^{4}} k^{3} . \tag{47}$$

where magnitudes such as σ_j has been eliminated in favor of the variables normally used in cosmology: j_0 , the dominant spin; the Plank mass m_{Pl} ; $V \propto a^3$ is the total volume of the condensate which is related to the scale factor defined implicitly in the Hubble parameter in Eq. (46); and M, the mass scale set by the energy density in the scalar field. An interesting feature of this result is that the spectral index derived from this expression is $n_s = 4$, which is consistent with semiclassical cosmological calculations in the context of QFT in curved spacetime. Nonetheless, the original setup of this cosmological scenario is very simple and only uses massless scalar fields, hence one does not expect any matching with the actual CMB observations, but to illustrate what one would expect from the standard formalism within quantum field theory on curved spacetime. It is clear that a generalization to more realistic models with more complicated matter dynamics beyond free massless scalar fields is required to bridge the gap between observations of the early universe and the condensate formalism.

Before concluding this section, let us mention another possible approach to GFT condensate cosmology from which standard general relativity can be approximated by means of effective corrections of quantum gravitational origin. A class of thermal condensates can be constructed by making use of generalised equilibrium Gibbs states based on the maximum entropy principle, together with certain quantum many-body techniques [98,99]. A tentative picture arising from this formalism models the universe as a finite temperature condensate phase representing the effective macroscopic spacetime, together with a static thermal cloud naturally encoding the corresponding quantum geometric statistical fluctuations over it. This model exhibits all the expected features, i.e. coherence, entanglement and statistical fluctuations in a given set of observables [100]. However, it displays two main differences with respect to the nonthermal GFT condensate cosmology discussed in this review. On the one hand, it is expected for the early time phase of the universe to be dominated by the thermal cloud; on the other hand, the model recovers the expected cosmological dynamics at late times when the thermal part is dominated by the condensate, but in this context the latter is generated dynamically [100,101]. Let us remark that all results in GFT cosmology are reproduced when the fluctuations are completely turned off, namely the thermal states can be consistently reduced to the "zero temperature" coherent states that have been used to obtain the effective description for the flat FLRW spacetime in previous sections. However, these statistical coherent states may bring further progress to GFT condensate cosmology program by offering a tangible and controllable way of incorporating perturbations in relevant observables. Specifically, [101] computes additional correction terms in the evolution equations finding a higher upper bound on the number of e-folds \mathcal{N} even without including interactions. However, the increase in \mathcal{N} is still not sufficient to match the physical observations estimated at $\mathcal{N} \sim 60$. It is expected that the condensate would be affected by the presence of the thermal cloud, hence the relaxation in the static approximation of the latter implies modifications during early phase in the previously studied GFT cosmological models [12,38], by altering the inflation rate.

6 Discussion and closing remarks

Relevant aspects of GFT cosmological implications have been discussed in this review for the purpose of enriching the debate on the possible scenarios that a suitable theory of gravity could open in cosmology. The consistency of the GFT condensate cosmology has grown in the last couple of years because it could rely not only on the convergent results with models derived from LQG. Further developments of the GFT approach could provide more hints regarding the effective cosmological dynamics. Indeed, the latter is a central open research field in GFT and focuses on the attempt at providing some constraints to terms appearing in the GFT action (6). In this respect, a relevant issue lies in determining which choices of \mathcal{K} and \mathcal{V} (see Sect. 2) are required to obtain a suitable quantum gravity theory that recovers general relativity in the classical limit. We want to focus on two different research lines in GFT approaches studying the effective macroscopic dynamics that builds up the cosmological model and that can be of interest for those working on others than GFT methods.

- (1) The first one according to which within the GFT condensate cosmology is possible to realize an early era of geometric inflation. This is a period of accelerated expansion in absence of an inflaton field and its associated ad hoc potential. A detailed study of the condition for inflation can be found in [13]; however, in [102] it is argued that the number of e-folds computed for the free theory $-\mathcal{V} = 0$ in the action (6)- suggests that such a geometric inflation cannot last sufficiently long to accommodate observational data. This implies that GFT cosmology in absence of interactions between building blocks cannot replace the standard inflationary scenario. Studies explore the implications of including these interactions, which is indeed a more natural and consistent scenario, as the quanta of geometry should be somehow 'glued' among each others instead of being in a sort of diluted gas regime of tetrahedra. Therefore, the results obtained in [12] may be able to give an alternative prescription on how to build a GFT model with specific type of interactions, such that in the semiclassical limit the desired properties of our homogeneous and isotropic universe are obtained as an emergent 3-geometry. Interestingly, in the interacting case, one can find a range of the parameter space for which the inflationary era last for sufficiently long. However, to obtain a successful scenario one needs to verify that there is no intermediate stage of deceleration between the bounce and the end of inflation. According to [67] a real-valued condensate field has solutions avoiding the singularity and also growing exponentially after a bounce, if and only if the GFT energy is negative. A discussion on the possible values of the parameter space of the interacting potential can be found in [102], together with the stability properties of the evolving isotropic system, giving rise to effective continuous and homogeneous 3-geometries built from many smallest and almost at building blocks of quantum geometry.
- (2) The second research line is based on the successful use of relational observables to extract an effective dynamics in the cosmological sector of GFT¹⁰. Particularly

¹⁰ Anyway, in order to translate the theory into a set of equations for cosmological observables, the addition of a scalar field variable is crucial, since it allows us to define within the full theory a set of relational observables with a clear physical meaning. In GFT approaches we find models including a scalar field as

interesting consequences have been derived using condensate states of a GFT with a relational Hamiltonian $\hat{\mathcal{H}}$ generating the evolution with respect to a massless scalar 'clock' field ϕ^0 . This approach, initially proposed for a toy model in [84], postulates a canonical reformulation of the classical GFT action making use of classical "sametime" Poisson brackets and providing a new path to define a quantum theory for GFT. It is based in a deparametrized setting in which some degrees of freedom (in the current discussion the singled out variable in the domain of the GFT field that corresponds to the scalar field degrees of freedom) serve as 'coordinates' parametrizing the remaining ones. Concretely, one defines 'equal relational time' commutation rules for the fundamental operators corresponding to the GFT field φ and its conjugate momentum. This procedure of choosing a suitable matter degree of freedom as a 'clock' before quantisation is performed at the level of the collective, coarse-grained description of the microscopic GFT degrees of freedom, hence providing a "proto-geometric" notion of relational dynamics [86,87]. Nonetheless, this approach shows the limit of postulating a "tempus ante quantum" structure, since it precludes access to the quantum properties of the sub-system chosen as a clock $[61]^{11}$.

In our view, the above-mentioned relational standpoint represents a fruitful field of investigation, suggesting important conceptual implications. Indeed, if physical systems evolve with respect to internal dynamical degrees of freedom of the theory, notions of physical clocks and rods should be searched in the well-behaved fundamental degrees of freedom. Recent insights in this direction deepen the relational strategy to solve the problem of time in emergent gravity. For instance, in [61] it is addressed the contribution of the quantum properties of the relational clock to the effective dynamics and in particular, [113] analyses how the clock's properties define the evolution and determine the resolution of the initial singularity.

Furthermore, an intriguing conceptual implication of this relational approach is that spacetime and, hence geometry, dissolves in pre-geometric "atoms" and the recovery of gravity is postulated as an emergent phenomenon deriving from their collective behaviour. Examples of these pre-geometric structures can also be the spin networks of LQG, the simplicial (piecewise-flat) geometries of lattice quantum gravity and, as it was extensively discussed, the quanta of GFT which can be understood as either spin networks and simplicial geometries of lattice quantum

Footnote 10 continued

matter content. The use of matter reference frames is not new; it dates back at least to DeWitt proposal [103] where coordinates are proposed to be constructed with convenient matter scalar variables (in [104] an extended discussion can be found). More contemporary advances have been obtained by using dust matter to account for this effect. First insights have been proposed by Brown and Kuchař [31] and generalizations to LQG have been developed in Ref. [105]. Relevant advances have been done also by Gielen [60,97]. With regard to models constructed from the theories discussed in this review, the employment of a massless scalar field as a relational clock defining relational dynamics also appears in canonical LQG [106] and LQC [107,108].

¹¹ It would be interesting to contrast the latter deparametrized framework for a single clock with a covariant setting in which one can choose different clocks, following the ideas of [109–111]. In this respect, recent work has been done by [112].

gravity, or as the causal sets in causal dynamical triangulation among other possibilities.

Nevertheless, to achieve the resulting collective structures one requires one more step, namely one needs a suitable averaging/coarse-graining procedure from where approximately continuous and regular structures emerge and allow to label the evolution of other degrees of freedom in the theory. Within the GFT approach, this is commonly known as the 'proto-geometric' phase of the theory. Thus a suitable clock should be searched in the 'proto-geometric' regime. According to our discussion, massless scalar fields are attached to each GFT entity, implying for each "single-quantum time" a pre-geometric interpretation. This means that the existence of a large number of quanta brings the complicated problem of reconstructing collective, coarse-grained synchronized states with an internal variable that could be used as a "relational clock" [61]. Contrary to the classical context where the troublesome diffeomorphism-invariant set up is circumvent by using specific solutions involving special isometries to which preferred temporal and/or spatial directions can be associated, in the quantum setting this solution is not allowed. Thus, one has to deal with the absence of preferred temporal and/or spatial directions. Future research in GFT will show whether this picture is consistent and will further explore its implications for Quantum Gravity theory and cosmology.

Acknowledgements We would like to thank Marco De Cesare, Claus Kiefer, Isha Kotecha and Daniele Oriti for fruitful discussions and suggestions. We also thank the referee for their remarks which led to an improvement of the manuscript. This article is part of a project that has received funding from the European Research Council (ERC) under the Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme (Grant agreement No. 758145).

References

- Gielen, S., Sindoni, L.: Quantum cosmology from group field theory condensates: a review. SIGMA 12, 082 (2016)
- Oriti, D.: Disappearance and emergence of space and time in quantum gravity. Stud. Hist. Philos. Sci. B Stud. Hist. Philos. Modern Phys. 46, 186 (2014)
- 3. Bojowald, M.: Absence of singularity in loop quantum cosmology. Phys. Rev. Lett. 86, 5227 (2001)
- Ashtekar, A., Bojowald, M., Lewandowski, J.: Mathematical structure of loop quantum cosmology. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 7, 233 (2003)
- Russo, J.G., Townsend, P.K.: Cosmology as relativistic particle mechanics: from big crunch to big bang. Class. Quant. Grav. 22, 737 (2005)
- Bouhmadi-Lopez, M., Kiefer, C., Sandhoefer, B., Vargas Moniz, P.: On the quantum fate of singularities in a dark-energy dominated universe. Phys. Rev. D 79, 124035 (2009)
- Kiefer, C., Kwidzinski, N., Piontek, D.: Singularity avoidance in Bianchi I quantum cosmology. Eur. Phys. J. C 79, 686 (2019)
- Bojowald, M., Kiefer, C., Vargas Moniz, P.: Quantum cosmology for the 21st century: a debate. contribution to the Proceedings of the 12th marcel grossmann conference, Paris, July 2009, [arXiv:1005.2471]
- Brunnemann, J., Thiemann, T.: On (cosmological) singularity avoidance in loop quantum gravity. Class. Quant. Grav. 23, 1395 (2006)
- 10. Coule, D. H.: Contrasting quantum cosmologies (2003). [arXiv:gr-qc/0312045]
- 11. Bojowald, M.: Inflation from quantum geometry. Phys. Rev. Lett. 89, 261301 (2002)

- de Cesare, M., Pithis, A.G.A., Sakellariadou, M.: Cosmological implications of interacting group field theory models: cyclic Universe and accelerated expansion. Phys. Rev. D 94, 064051 (2016)
- 13. Oriti, D.: The universe as a quantum gravity condensate. Comptes Rendus Phys. 18, 235 (2017)
- 14. Marchetti, L., Oriti, D.: Quantum fluctuations in the effective relational GFT cosmology, (2020), [arXiv:2010.09700]
- Oriti, D.: Group field theory as the microscopic description of the quantum spacetime fluid: a new perspective on the continuum in quantum gravity. PoS QG-PH (2007) 030, [arXiv:0710.3276]
- 16. Oriti, D.: Levels of spacetime emergence in quantum gravity, (2018), [arXiv:1807.04875]
- Finocchiaro, M., Oriti, D.: Renormalization of group field theories for quantum gravity: new computations and some suggestions. Front. Phys. 8, 649 (2021)
- Oriti, D.: Foundations of space and time reflections on quantum gravity. In: Ilis, G., Murugan, J., Weltman, A. (eds.) The microscopic dynamics of quantum space as a group field theory. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2012)
- Baratin, A., Oriti, D.: Ten questions on Group Field Theory (and their tentative answers). J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 360, 012002 (2012)
- 20. Krajewski, T.: Group field theories. PoS QGQGS 2011, 005 (2011)
- Reisenberger, M.P., Rovelli, C.: Spacetime as a Feynman diagram: the connection formulation. Class. Quant. Grav. 18, 121 (2001)
- 22. Baratin, A., Oriti, D.: Group field theory and simplicial gravity path integrals: A model for Holst-Plebanski gravity. Phys. Rev. D 85, 044003 (2012)
- Ashtekar, A., Lewandowski, J.: Background independent quantum gravity: a status report. Class. Quant. Grav. 21, R53 (2004)
- 24. Rovelli, C.: Quantum gravity. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2004)
- Thiemann, T.: Modern canonical quantum general relativity. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2008)
- Han, M., Huang, W., Ma, Y.: Fundamental structure of loop quantum gravity. Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 16, 1397 (2007)
- Nicolai, H., Peeters, K., Zamaklar, M.: Loop quantum gravity: an outside view. Class. Quant. Grav. 22, R193 (2005)
- Oriti, D.: Group field theory as the 2nd quantization of Loop Quantum Gravity. Class. Quant. Grav. 33, 085005 (2016)
- 29. Rovelli, C.: What is observable in classical and quantum gravity? Class. Quant. Grav. 8, 297 (1991)
- Dittrich, B.: Partial and complete observables for canonical general relativity. Class. Quant. Grav. 23, 6155 (2006)
- Brown, J.D., Kuchař, K.V.: Dust as a standard of space and time in canonical quantum gravity. Phys. Rev. D 51, 5600 (1995)
- Ashtekar, A., Lewandowski, J.: Representation theory of analytic holonomy C*-algebras, in Knots and Quantum Gravity (Riverside, CA, : Oxford Lecture Ser. Math. Appl., Vol. 1. Oxford University Press, New York 1994, 21–61 (1993)
- Baratin, A., Dittrich, B., Oriti, D., Tambornino, J.: Non-commutative flux representation for loop quantum gravity. Class. Quant. Grav. 28, 175011 (2011)
- Oriti, D.: Group field theory and loop quantum gravity. In: Ashtekar, A., Pullin, J. (eds.) Loop quantum gravity: the first 30 years, pp. 125–152. World Scientific, Singapore (2017)
- Gielen, S., Oriti, D.: Quantum cosmology from quantum gravity condensates: cosmological variables and lattice-refined dynamics. New J. Phys. 16, 123004 (2014)
- 36. Di Francesco, P., Ginsparg, P., Zinn-Justin, J.: 2D gravity and random matrices. Phys. Rep. 254, 1 (1995)
- Henson, J.: The causal set approach to quantum gravity. In: Oriti, D. (ed.) Approaches to quantum gravity, pp. 393–413. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2009)
- Oriti, D., Sindoni, L., Wilson-Ewing, E.: Emergent Friedmann dynamics with a quantum bounce from quantum gravity condensates. Class. Quant. Grav. 33, 224001 (2016)
- Li, Y., Oriti, D., Zhang, M.: Group field theory for quantum gravity minimally coupled to a scalar field. Class. Quant. Grav. 34, 195001 (2017)
- 40. Perez, A.: Spin foam models for quantum gravity. Class. Quant. Grav. 20, R43 (2003)
- 41. Perez, A.: The spin foam approach to quantum gravity. Living Rev. Relativ. 16(3), 128 (2013)
- De Pietri, R., Freidel, L., Krasnov, K., Rovelli, C.: Barrett-Crane model from a Boulatov-Ooguri field theory over a homogeneous space. Nucl. Phys. B 574, 785 (2000)

- Barrett, J.W., Crane, L.: A Lorentzian signature model for quantum general relativity. Class. Quant. Grav. 17, 3101 (2000)
- Swanson, E.S.: A primer on functional methods and the Schwinger-Dyson equations. AIP Conf. Proc. 1296, 75 (2010)
- 45. Ooguri, H.: Prog. Theor. Phys. 89, 1 (1993)
- 46. Freidel, L.: Int. J. Phys. 44, 1769 (2005)
- Gielen, S., Oriti, D., Sindoni, L.: Homogeneous cosmologies as group field theory condensates. JHEP 1406, 013 (2014)
- 48. Oriti, D., Pranzetti, D., Ryan, J.P., Sindoni, L.: Class. Quant. Grav. 32, 235016 (2015)
- Gielen, S., Oriti, D., Sindoni, L.: Cosmology from group field theory formalism for quantum gravity. Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 031301 (2013)
- Pithis, A.G.A., Sakellariadou, M.: Group field theory condensate cosmology: an appetizer. Universe 5, 6 (2019)
- Atland, A., Simons, B.: Condensed matter field theory. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge (2010)
- Leggett, A.: Quantum liquids: Bose condensation and Cooper pairing in condensed-matter systems. Oxford University Press, Oxford (2006)
- Ben Geloun, J., Martini, R., Oriti, D.: Functional Renormalization Group analysis of a Tensorial Group Field Theory on R³. EPL 112, 31001 (2015)
- Ben Geloun, J., Martini, R., Oriti, D.: Functional renormalization group analysis of tensorial group field theories on R^d. Phys. Rev. D 94, 024017 (2016)
- Pithis, A.G.A., Thürigen, J.: Phase transitions in group field theory: The Landau perspective. Phys. Rev. D 98, 126006 (2018)
- 56. Pitaevskii, L., Stringari, S.: Bose-Einstein condensation. Oxford University Press, Oxford (2003)
- Bojowald, M., Chinchilli, A.L., Simpson, D., Dantas, C.C., Jaffe, M.: Nonlinear (loop) quantum cosmology. Phys. Rev. D 86, 124027 (2012)
- Oriti, D., Sindoni, L., Wilson-Ewing, E.: Bouncing cosmologies from quantum gravity condensates. Class. Quant. Grav. 34, 04LT01 (2017)
- 59. Gielen, S.: Inhomogeneous universe from group field theory condensate. JCAP 1902, 013 (2019)
- Gielen, S., Oriti, D.: Cosmological perturbations from full quantum gravity. Phys. Rev. D 98, 106019 (2018)
- Marchetti, L., Oriti, D.: Effective relational cosmological dynamics from quantum gravity. JHEP 5, 025 (2021)
- Pithis, A.G.A., Sakellariadou, M., Tomov, P.: Impact of nonlinear effective interactions on group field theory quantum gravity condensates. Phys. Rev. D 94, 064056 (2016)
- Koslowski, T., Sahlmann, H.: Loop quantum gravity vacuum with nondegenerate geometry. SIGMA 8, 026 (2012)
- Peter, F., Weyl, H.: Die Vollständigkeit der primitiven Darstellungen einer geschlossenen kontinuierlichen Gruppe. Math. Ann. 97, 737 (1927)
- Gielen, S.: Quantum cosmology of (loop) quantum gravity condensates: an example. Class. Quant. Grav. 31, 155009 (2014)
- de Cesare, M., Oriti, D., Pithis, A.G.A., Sakellariadou, M.: Dynamics of anisotropies close to a cosmological bounce in quantum gravity. Class. Quant. Grav. 35, 015014 (2018)
- Pithis, A.G.A., Sakellariadou, M.: Relational evolution of effectively interacting group field theory quantum gravity condensates. Phys. Rev. D 95, 064004 (2017)
- Blyth, W.F., Isham, C.J.: Quantization of a Friedmann universe filled with a scalar field. Phys. Rev. D 11, 768 (1975)
- Ashtekar, A., Singh, P.: Loop quantum cosmology: a status report. Class. Quant. Grav. 28, 213001 (2011)
- de Pietri, R., Rovelli, C.: Geometry eigenvalues and scalar product from recoupling theory in loop quantum gravity. Phys. Rev. D 54, 2664 (1996)
- Ashtekar, A., Lewandowski, J.: Quantum theory of geometry: II Volume operators. Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 1, 388 (1998)
- Rovelli, C., Smolin, L.: Discreteness of area and volume in quantum gravity. Nucl. Phys. B 442, 593 (1995) : Erratum: Nucl. Phys. B 456, 753 (1995)
- 73. Bianchi, E., Dona, P., Speziale, S.: Polyhedra in loop quantum gravity. Phys. Rev. D 83, 044035 (2011)

- 74. Barbieri, A.: Quantum tetrahedra and simplicial spin networks. Nucl. Phys. B 518, 714 (1998)
- Brunnemann, J., Thiemann, T.: Simplification of the spectral analysis of the volume operator in loop quantum gravity. Class. Quant. Grav. 23, 1289 (2006)
- 76. Bojowald, M.: Loop quantum cosmology. Living Rev. Relativ. 11, 4 (2008)
- Gielen, S.: Emergence of a low spin phase in group field theory condensates. Class. Quant. Grav. 33, 224002 (2016)
- Ashtekar, A., Pawłowski, T., Singh, P.: Quantum nature of the big bang: improved dynamics. Phys. Rev. D 74, 0844003 (2006)
- Bojowald, M., Cartin, D., Khanna, G.: Lattice refining loop quantum cosmology, anisotropic models and stability. Phys. Rev. D 76, 064018 (2007)
- Ashtekar, A., Wilson-Ewing, E.: Loop quantum cosmology of Bianchi I models. Phys. Rev. D 79, 083535 (2009)
- Pawłowski, T.: Observations on interfacing loop quantum gravity with cosmology. Phys. Rev. D 92, 124020 (2015)
- 82. Calcagni, G.: Loop quantum cosmology from group field theory. Phys. Rev. D 90, 064047 (2014)
- Dapor, A., Liegener, K., Pawłowski, T.: Challenges in recovering a consistent cosmology from the effective dynamics of loop quantum gravity. Phys. Rev. D 100, 106016 (2019)
- Adjei, E., Gielen, S., Wieland, W.: Cosmological evolution as squeezing: a toy model for group field cosmology. Class. Quant. Grav. 35, 105016 (2018)
- Taveras, V.: Corrections to the Friedmann equations from loop quantum gravity for a universe with a free scalar field. Phys. Rev. D 78, 064072 (2008)
- 86. Wilson-Ewing, E.: A relational Hamiltonian for group field theory. Phys. Rev. D 99, 086017 (2019)
- Gielen, S., Polaczek, A., Wilson-Ewing, E.: Addendum to "Relational Hamiltonian for group field theory". Phys. Rev. D 100, 106002 (2019)
- de Cesare, M., Sakellariadou, M.: Accelerated expansion of the Universe without an inflaton and resolution of the initial singularity from Group Field Theory condensates. Phys. Lett. B 764, 49 (2017)
- Pithis, A.G.A., Sakellariadou, M., Tomov, P.: Impact of nonlinear effective interactions on group field theory quantum gravity condensates. Phys. Rev. D 94, 064056 (2016)
- Mukhanov, V., Feldman, H.A., Brandenberger, R.: Theory of cosmological perturbations. Phys. Rep. 215, 203 (1992)
- Salopek, D.S., Bond, J.R.: Nonlinear evolution of long wavelength metric fluctuations in inflationary models. Phys. Rev. D 42, 3936 (1990)
- Wands, D., Malik, K.A., Lyth, D.H., Liddle, A.R.: A New approach to the evolution of cosmological perturbations on large scales. Phys. Rev. D 62, 043527 (2000)
- Gerhardt, F., Oriti, D., Wilson-Ewing, E.: The separate universe framework in group field theory condensate cosmology. Phys. Rev. D 98, 066011 (2018)
- Mukhanov, V.F., Chibisov, G.V.: Quantum Fluctuations and a Nonsingular Universe. JETP Lett 33, 532 (1981) [Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 33, 549 (1981)]
- Gielen, S.: Identifying cosmological perturbations in group field theory condensates. JHEP 1508, 010 (2015)
- Baumann, D.: Inflation, in physics of the large and small, TASI 2009. Proceedings of the theoretical advanced Study Institute in elementary particle physics. C. Csaki, S. Dodelson (eds.) (World Scientific, 2011), pp. 523-686, [arXiv:0907.5424]
- 97. Gielen, S.: Group field theory and its cosmology in a matter reference frame. Universe 4, 103 (2018)
- Kotecha, I., Oriti, D.: Statistical equilibrium in quantum gravity: Gibbs states in group field theory. New J. Phys. 20, 073009 (2018)
- Chirco, G., Kotecha, I., Oriti, D.: Statistical equilibrium of tetrahedra from maximum entropy principle. Phys. Rev. D 99, 086011 (2019)
- Assanioussi, M., Kotecha, I.: Thermal representations in group field theory: squeezed vacua and quantum gravity condensates. JHEP 2020, 173 (2020)
- Assanioussi, M., Kotecha, I.: Thermal quantum gravity condensates in group field theory cosmology. Phys. Rev. D 102, 044024 (2020)
- Sakellariadou, M.: Quantum gravity and cosmology: an intimate interplay. J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 880, 012003 (2017)
- DeWitt, B.S.: The Quantization of geometry. In: Witten, L. (ed.) Gravitation: an introduction to current research, pp. 266–381. Wiley, New York (1962)

- Giddings, S.B., Marolf, D., Hartle, J.B.: Observables in effective gravity. Phys. Rev. D 74, 064018 (2006)
- Giesel, K., Thiemann, T.: Scalar material reference systems and loop quantum gravity. Class. Quant. Grav. 32, 135015 (2015)
- Domagała, M., Giesel, K., Kamiński, W., Lewandowski, J.: Gravity quantized: loop quantum gravity with a scalar field. Phys. Rev. D 82, 104038 (2010)
- Ashtekar, A., Paw Lowski, T., Singh, P.: Quantum nature of the big bang: improved dynamics. Phys. Rev. D. 74, 084003 (2006)
- Giesel, K., Vetter, A.: Reduced loop quantization with four Klein–Gordon scalar fields as reference matter. Class. Quant. Grav. 36, 145002 (2019)
- Vanrietvelde, A., Hoehn, P.A., Giacomini, F., Castro-Ruiz, E.: A change of perspective: switching quantum reference frames via a perspective-neutral framework. Quantum 4, 225 (2020)
- Höhn, P.A.: Switching internal times and a new perspective on the 'wave function of the universe'. Universe 5, 116 (2019)
- Chataignier, L.: Construction of quantum Dirac observables and the emergence of WKB time. Phys. Rev. D 101, 086001 (2020)
- Gielen, S., Polaczek, A.: Hamiltonian group field theory with multiple scalar matter fields. Phys. Rev. D 103, 086011 (2021)
- Gielen, S., Menndez-Pidal, L.: Singularity resolution depends on the clock. Class. Quant. Grav. 37, 205018 (2020)

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.